

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

An investigation of the behaviour and distribution of radionuclides in the urban environment of Glasgow

By

Catherine Emery

A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Science at the University of Glasgow, following research carried out at the Scottish Universities Environmental Research Centre

March 2003

© Catherine Emery, March 2003

ProQuest Number: 10868215

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10868215

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



12917 Copy.1

Abstract

The densely populated nature of urban areas makes them an important area of study with respect to environmental contamination, but these areas have often not received the attention they deserve. This thesis describes a study of the distribution of natural and manmade radionuclides within the City of Glasgow. The environment within Glasgow will not only contain natural radionuclides (which are ubiquitous in the environment), but it will also receive direct input of anthropogenic radionuclides from atmospheric fallout (weapons testing, satellite burn-up and Chernobyl) and possible point sources of both anthropogenic and natural radionuclides may arise from universities, research establishments and hospitals within the city. This initial investigation of the behaviour and distribution of radionuclides in the urban environment of Glasgow incorporates a city-wide investigation of radionuclide activities in a range of environmental materials and a more detailed study of radionuclide distributions and inventories in soil cores from a park within the city.

The city-wide investigation included sampling sites both close to, and remote from possible point sources of radionuclides and, over the three sampling times in July 2000 (Peurou, 2000), November 2000 and April 2001, found that ⁴⁰K specific activities generally decreased in the order grass> street dust > soil. The variability in the ⁴⁰K specific activities also decreased in this order. The ranges observed in ⁴⁰K specific activities were 197-2115 (Bq kg⁻¹), 225-479 (Bq kg⁻¹) and 189-1000 (Bq kg⁻¹), in grass, soil and street dust, respectively. Some of this variation has been attributed to environmental management of selected sites.

 137 Cs specific activities ranged from 1.2- 22.5 (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass, 2.4-85.1 (Bq kg⁻¹) in soil and from below the detection limit to 211 (Bq kg⁻¹) in street dust. The 137 Cs street dust data population showed a broadly exponential trend with 2 outliers being observed, both near potential point sources of 137 Cs.

⁷Be, a cosmic ray- produced radionuclide, was detected in grass with specific activities in the range 46-530 (Bq kg⁻¹) and in street dust in the range 44-595 (Bq

kg⁻¹). Considerable variation was observed both spatially and temporally, despite having a uniform atmospheric production rate and fairly uniform rainfall over the study area.

The highest specific activities of 226 Ra , a daughter nuclide of 238 U, were observed in soil (11.9- 44.4 Bq kg⁻¹), with fairly consistent results being observed both spatially and temporally.

¹³¹I was detected in the Clyde Estuary, down stream of a hospital with a nuclear medicine facility. This, and the ¹³⁷Cs outliers in street dust, highlighted that this survey was sensitive enough to detect radionuclides that may be linked to a point source.

From the investigation of three cores of contrasting soil types from Pollok Park, a reference site for the city-wide investigation, the coniferous soil was found to have the lowest pH and highest organic content with a ²¹⁰Pb inventory which was comparable to other ²¹⁰Pb inventories in the literature for Central Scotland. The deciduous soil, which also had a low pH and high organic content, had a ²¹⁰Pb inventory approximately a factor of three lower than the coniferous soil. An exponential decrease in unsupported ²¹⁰Pb specific activities with increasing depth in both the coniferous and deciduous soils could be attributed either to accumulation of the soils or to downward migration of the ²¹⁰Pb. However, the depth distributions of ^{239,240}Pu in both cases were inconsistent with the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rates, indicating that the presence of natural and manmade radionuclides at depth in these profiles is almost certainly due to downward migration. The grassland soil, which had a much higher pH and lower organic content than both the forest soils, had a ²¹⁰Pb inventory comparable with the deciduous soil core. The grassland core exhibited a profile indicative of mixing, and accumulation of this soil is unlikely. All three cores suggest the downward movement of ¹³⁷Cs.

Plutonium was found to be associated with the organic phase of the forest soils but considerable revision of the BCR sequential extraction technique would be needed in future for use on such organic soils.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded and supported by Glasgow City Council for which the author gratefully acknowledges their generous assistance.

I would also like to thank the following people for their help and support throughout this project:

Gus Mackenzie, Scottish Universities Environmental Research Centre, for his advice and friendly support throughout. Also the help, support and friendship of Alison Stewart and Caroline Donnelly was greatly appreciated.

Keith McKay, Robert Truesdale and Glyn Roberts of Glasgow Scientific Services for their advice, practical help and humour. Special thanks to Glyn for his help with the majority of the field work.

Marian Scott, University of Glasgow, for her advice and support.

Peter Kordeczka, Glasgow City Council, GIS department for his practical help.

Peter Lewis and Martin Nice, British Geological Survey, for their IT assistance and encouragement.

Table of contents

Page

Abstract		
Author's declaration		
Acknowledgements		
List of Tables		
List of Figures	(iv)	
List of abbreviations	(vi)	
Chapter 1 – Introduction		
1.1 Radioactivity in the environment	1	
1.1.1 Primordial radionuclides	2	
1.1.2 Cosmogenic radionuclides	7	
1.1.3 Anthropogenic radionuclides	8	
1.2 Radiation doses and the public		
1.2.1 Sources of exposure	11	
1.2.2 Non nuclear industries as a source of radionuclides	12	
to the urban environment		
1.2.3 Generalised derived limits	14	
1.2.4 Effects of radiation on humans	15	
1.2.5 Human exposure pathways	17	
1.2.6 Factors controlling dose	18	
1.2 Research area: history and environmental setting		
1.3.1 Geological setting of Glasgow	20	
1.3.2 City of Glasgow	21	
1.3.3 Pollok Park	22	
(i) Deciduous forest environment	23	
(ii) Coniferous forest environment	24	
1.3.4 Behaviour of radionuclides in soil	25	
1.4 Background to research	28	
1.5 Detailed objectives	29	

2.1 Sample site locations	31
2.2 Sample collection and initial preparation	35
2.2.1 Grass	35
2.2.2 Soil	
(i) Bulk soil samples	35
(ii) Soil cores and leaves / leaf litter	36
2.2.3 Street dust	38
2.2.4 Clyde Estuary water	38
2.3 Analysis techniques	
2.3.1 Gamma spectroscopy analysis	38
2.3.2 Plutonium analysis	41
2.3.3 Alpha spectroscopy	44
2.3.4 BCR sequential extraction	45
(i) Reagents and target phase	45
(ii) Extraction procedure	46
(iii) Plutonium isolation from the sequential extracts	47
2.3.5 Determination of tritium in estuarine samples by liquid	47
scintillation counting	
U	
Chapter 3 – Results	50
3.1 Loss on ignition and pH	51
3.2 Gamma spectroscopy results	
3.3 Alpha spectroscopy – plutonium results	69
3.4 BCR sequential extraction results	
3.5 Liquid scintillation results	12

Chapter 2 – Sample collection, experimental methods and analysis

Chapter 4 – Discussion

Gamma spectrometry analysis:-

⁴⁰ K	73
¹³⁷ Cs	84
⁷ Be	87
²²⁶ Ra	88

Clyde Estuary water	
Small scale spatial variation	
Pollok Park cores :-	92
Soil characteristics	92
Radionuclide distributions and inventories:-	
²¹⁰ Pb	94
¹³⁷ Cs	101
²⁴¹ Am	103
^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu	104
Plutonium sequential extraction	

Chapter 5 – Conclusions 109

Appendix 1 – Extended results	121
Appendix 2 – Quench correction curve for ³ H analysis at GCSS	128

List of Tables

Page

1. Average 238 U, 232 Th and 40 K (Bq kg ⁻¹) specific	3
activities in various rocks	
2. Examples of Cosmogenic radionuclides	7
3. Selected Generalised Derived Limits	15
4. Sample site locations, grid references, sample	31
details and analysis laboratory	
5. Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park deciduous	51
core (October 2000)	
6. Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park coniferous	52
core (October 2000)	
7. Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park grassland	53
core (October 2000)	
8. pH data for Pollok Park deciduous short core	54
9. pH data for Pollok Park coniferous short core	54
10. pH data for Pollok Park grassland short core	55
11. Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg^{-1}) for the	56
Pollok Park deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)	
12. Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bqkg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	57
deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)	
13. Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the	58
Pollok Park coniferous forest soil core (October 2000)	
14. Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	59
coniferous forest soil core (October 2000)	
15. Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the	60
Pollok Park grassland soil core (October 2000)	

16 . Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	61
grassland soil core (October 2000)	
17. ¹³⁷ Cs (Bq kg ⁻¹) measured in street dust, grass and	62
bulk soil in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001	
18 . ⁴⁰ K (Bq kg ⁻¹) measured in street dust, grass and	63
bulk soil in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001	
19 . ⁷ Be (Bq kg ⁻¹) measured in street dust, grass and	64
bulk soil in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001	
20 . ²²⁶ Ra (Bq kg ⁻¹) in street dust, grass and bulk soil	65
measured in November 2000 and April 2001	
21 . Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replicate	66
street dust samples	
22 . Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replicate	67
grass samples	
23 . Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replicate	68
soil samples	
24 . Specific activity of 40 K and 131 I (Bq l ⁻¹) in Clyde	69
estuary water	
25 . ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	69
deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)	
26 . ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	70
coniferous forest soil core (October 2000)	
27 . ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	70
grassland soil core (October 2000)	
28 . ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	71
bulk soil samples (June 2001)	
29 . ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) for the Pollok Park	71
bulk soil sample sequential extracts (June 2001)	
30 . ³ H values in Clyde estuarine water	72
31 . Soil to grass ⁴⁰ K transfer factors	80
32 . ⁴⁰ K data population summary statistics	83
33 . ¹³⁷ Cs data population summary statistics	87

34. ⁷ Be data population summary statistics	88
35. ²²⁶ Ra data population summary statistics	90
36 . Apparent accumulation rates (cm yr^{-1}) for	97
the deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil cores	
37 . Apparent diffusion rates (cm yr ⁻¹) for the deciduous,	98
coniferous and grassland soil cores	
38 . Summary of soil ²¹⁰ Pb inventories and flux	98
from the deciduous, coniferous and grassland cores	
39 . ¹³⁷ Cs inventory (Bq m ⁻²) in deciduous, coniferous	102
and grassland cores	
40. 239,240 Pu inventory (Bq m ⁻²) in deciduous and	105
coniferous cores	
41. ²³⁸ Pu inventory (Bq m ⁻²) in deciduous and coniferous cores	105

List of Figures

Page

1. The Uranium Natural Radioactive Decay Series	4
2. The Actinium Natural Radioactive Decay Series	5
3. The Thorium Natural Radioactive Decay Series	6
4. Sources of radiation exposure in the UK	11
5. Pathways between radioactive materials released	17
to the atmosphere and man	
6. Pathways between radioactive materials released	18
to ground and surface waters, and man	
7. A typical deciduous soil profile	23
8. A typical coniferous soil profile	24
9. Fold out map of Glasgow with sample site locations	34
10 . Map of 40 K distribution in soil (Bq kg ⁻¹)	74
11. Map of 40 K distribution in street dust (Bq kg ⁻¹)	75
12 . Map of 40 K distribution in grass (Bq kg ⁻¹)	76
13. 40 K in measured in grass (Bq kg ⁻¹) in July 2000,	78
November 2000 and April 2001	
14. ⁴⁰ K in measured in soil (Bq kg ⁻¹) in July 2000,	78
November 2000 and April 2001	
15 . ⁴⁰ K in measured in street dust (Bq kg ⁻¹) in July 2000,	79
November 2000 and April 2001	
16 . ⁴⁰ K (Bq kg ⁻¹) in grass- Distribution of results	82
17. ⁴⁰ K (Bq kg ⁻¹) in soil- Distribution of results	83
18. ¹³⁷ Cs (Bq kg-1) in grass measured in July 2000,	85
November 2000 and April 2001	
19 . ¹³⁷ Cs (Bq kg ⁻¹) in grass – distribution of results	85
20 . ¹³⁷ Cs (Bq kg ⁻¹) in Street dust measured in July 2000,	86
November 2000 and April 2001	
21 . 226 Ra (Bq kg ⁻¹) in soil – distribution of results.	89

22 . 226 Ra (Bq kg ⁻¹) in grass – distribution of results	90
23 . % Loss on ignition for the coniferous, deciduous and	93
grassland cores collected in Pollok Park, October 2000	
24. pH in short cores of deciduous, coniferous and	94
grassland soil	
25 . Total ²¹⁰ Pb specific activity (Bq kg ⁻¹) in deciduous,	95
coniferous and grassland cores, October 2000	
26 . In unsupported 210 Pb in the coniferous, deciduous	96
and grassland cores, October 2000	
27. Map of Scotland showing the locations of Flanders	99
Moss and Fenwick Moor in relation to Glasgow	
28 . ¹³⁷ Cs (Bq kg ⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and	101
grassland cores	
29 . ²⁴¹ Am (Bq kg ⁻¹) in deciduous and coniferous cores	104
30 . 239,240 Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and	107
grassland soil	
31 . ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg ⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and	107
grassland soil	

Abbreviations list

BCR	Bureau of Certified References
DIPE	Di-isopropyl Ether
GDL	Generalised Derived Limits
GCSS	Glasgow City Scientific Services
LET	Linear energy transfer
LEGe	Low energy germanium detector
MAFF	Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
NRPB	National Radiological Protection Board
NORM	Naturally occurring radioactive materials
ROW	Reverse osmosis water
SUERC	Scottish Universities Environmental Research Centre
SNAP	Systems for Nuclear Auxiliary Power
TAG	Aggregated transfer factor
UNSCEAR	United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WOS	Web Of Science

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Radioactivity in the environment

There have been comparatively few studies of radionuclide distributions and behaviour in urban environments and the focus of this project was to provide such information for the City of Glasgow.

It is important to understand the behaviour and distribution of natural and man-made radionuclides in order to:

- 1) Accurately assess levels of human radiation exposure,
- Evaluate the impact of any future planned, or accidental, release of radionuclides to the environment,
- 3) Identify any point source inputs of radionuclides to the environment.

This knowledge can be applied to the study area, which will receive radionuclide inputs from a variety of natural and man made sources.

Natural radionuclides are ubiquitous in the environment and make a major contribution to background radiation. It is therefore important to understand the distribution of these natural radionuclides in the study area. This area also receives direct input of anthropogenic radionuclides from atmospheric fallout (weapons testing, satellite burn-up and Chernobyl) and possible point sources of both anthropogenic and natural radionuclides may arise from universities, research establishments and hospitals within the city. A number of nuclear facilities are located at greater distances (e.g. Sellafield nuclear fuel reprocessing plant, nuclear reactors at Hunterston, Torness and Chapelcross and naval bases on the Firth of Clyde), but radionuclides released from these sources are unlikely to have any detectable effect within Glasgow.

1

1.1.1 - Primordial radionuclides

Primordial radionuclides are naturally occurring species with half-lives comparable to the age of the earth (Choppin et al., 1995). As primordial radionuclides were present at the time of the earth's formation they are naturally present in rocks and, as they decay, their daughter products accumulate in the geological environment. In some cases, these daughter nuclides are stable and analysis of parent: daughter systematics can be used in geochronological applications. In other cases, as discussed below, the decay products may be radioactive, giving rise to decay chains. Primordial radionuclides can be divided into lighter nuclides that occur singly (e.g.⁴⁰K) and heavier nuclides, as mentioned, that occur in decay series. There are three main radioactive decay series: The uranium series, which begins with ²³⁸U, the thorium series, which begins with ²³⁸U (Figures 1-3) (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). These three families of heavy radioactive elements account for much of the background radiation to which humans are exposed.

In a closed system, the daughter nuclides produced by radioactive decay in each series eventually achieve a state called secular equilibrium with their parent radionuclide. This state is achieved when the half-life of the parent nuclide is much longer than those of the succeeding species, such that there is no significant change in the concentration of the parent during the time interval over which its shorter-lived descendants attain equilibrium. When this state is achieved, all nuclides within a given decay chain decay at the same rate. The ²³²Th series comes to equilibrium in about 50 years, in contrast to the ²³⁸U chain, which takes longer than 10⁶ years to come to equilibrium. This state of secular equilibrium only occurs in a truly closed system. However, in the environment, disequilibrium can occur if the system changes and is no longer 'closed'. For example, if the members of the decay chain are being transported by ground water (migrating), the differing physicochemical behaviour of each element in the chain may lead to differing migration rates or the precipitation or dissolution of the different decay chain members, thus leading to disequilibrium. These disequilibria can be used as an investigatory tool in earth and environmental sciences (Ivanovich and Harmon, 1992; Choppin et al., 1995).

As previously mentioned, primordial nuclides can also occur singly and an important example of such a nuclide is ⁴⁰K. Of the three naturally occurring potassium isotopes, only ⁴⁰K is unstable and decays mainly by β emission (89.33 %) with the remaining 10.67 % decaying by electron capture (Brown and Firestone, 1986). The isotopic abundance of ⁴⁰K is 0.0117 %, its half life is 1.2 x 10⁹ years and it contributes significantly to the background radiation received by humans (Choppin et al., 1995). The average contents of ⁴⁰K, ²³⁸U and ²³²Th in Bq kg⁻¹ in various rocks are summarised in Table 1.

Type of rock	²³⁸ U	²³² Th	⁴⁰ K
Igneous	4.81 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.81 x 10 ⁻⁵	8.14 x 10 ⁻⁴
Sandstones	1.48 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.41 x 10 ⁻⁵	3.25 x 10 ⁻⁴
Shales	1.48 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.07 x 10 ⁻⁵	8.14 x 10 ⁻⁴
Limestones	1.48 x 10 ⁻⁵	5.2 x 10 ⁻⁶	8.14 x 10 ⁻⁵

Table-1. Average ²³⁸U, ²³²Th and ⁴⁰K specific activities (Bq kg⁻¹) in various rocks(Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987)



Figure 1. The Uranium Natural Radioactive Decay Series



Figure 2. The Actinium Natural Radioactive Decay Series



Figure 3. The Thorium Natural Radioactive Decay Series

1.1.2 - Cosmogenic radionuclides

Cosmogenic radionuclides are ubiquitous throughout the environment. They originate mostly in the upper atmosphere due to the interaction of the galactic cosmic ray flux with the earth's atmosphere. Interactions of primary cosmic rays and their products from interactions with nuclei can induce nuclear reactions in the atmosphere to generate radionuclides. Primary cosmic radiation comprises predominantly protons, with a smaller percentage of α particles, nuclei and electrons making up the remainder. The products of the interactions of cosmic rays with the atmosphere include electrons, gamma rays, neutrons and mesons. At sea level, mesons account for about 80% of the cosmic radiation and electrons about 20% (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). Both long and short-lived radionuclides are formed by these atmospheric interactions, a few of which are shown in Table 2.

Radionuclide	Half life	Decay mode and	Atmospheric production rate (atoms m^2s^{-1})
		particle energy	
		(Me V)	
⁷ Be	53.24 d	Electron	81
		Capture (0.862)	
²⁴ Na	14.965 h	β ⁻ (1.389)	-
³³ P	25.4 d	β ⁻ (0.249)	-
³ H	12.33 y	β ⁻ (0.0186)	2500
²⁶ Al	7.2*10 ⁵ y	β ⁺ (1.16)	1.2
³⁶ Cl	3.02*10 ⁵ y	β ⁻ (0.709)	60
¹⁴ C	5730 y	β ⁻ (0.1565)	17000-25000

Table. 2- Examples of (Cosmogenic radionu	clides (Choppin	et al., 199	5; Longwort	h et
al., 1998)					

Equilibrium is assumed to be established between the production rate and the mean residence time of these cosmic radionuclides in environmental reservoirs (the atmosphere, the sea, lakes, soil, plants etc). The global inventory of ¹⁴C is approximately 8 500 PBq and of this amount, 140 PBq remains in the atmosphere, whilst the rest is incorporated in terrestrial material (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). Tritium, which decays by weak β ⁻ emission

to 3 He, is also an important cosmic ray produced radionuclide with a global inventory of approximately 1.3 x 10^{18} Bq. Tritium is rapidly incorporated into water and enters the hydrological cycle (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987).

1.1.3 - Anthropogenic radionuclides

Man-made radionuclides are produced predominantly by induced nuclear fission but also by neutron capture reactions and nuclear fusion. These reactions can occur both in nuclear reactors and in nuclear explosions (Choppin et al., 1995). A wide range of nuclides can be produced by these processes, some of which (notably isotopes of Cs, Pu and Am) occur as low level contaminants in the study area.

Atmospheric testing of nuclear weapons was carried out in two main series from 1952-1958 and in 1961-1962 and has contributed significantly to the global distribution of anthropogenic radionuclides. After 1962, only a limited number of atmospheric tests were carried out, the last having been in 1980 (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987; Hardy, 1974). There have been an estimated 520 atmospheric tests, mainly in the Northern Hemisphere, with a total explosive yield of 524 Mt. Of these bomb-produced radionuclides that were deposited on the earth's surface as fallout, 12% were deposited locally, near the explosion site; 10% were dispersed via tropospheric dispersion in the latitude of the test and the remaining 78%, the stratospheric component, was dispersed on a global scale. These weapons testing fallout radionuclides have now largely decayed to negligible environmental levels, with ¹⁴C, ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs and Pu isotopes being the most significant residual species (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987; Choppin et al., 1995). The decay of these radionuclides has in time, introduced other radionuclides into the environment. For example, ²⁴¹Am was not generated in significant quantities during weapons tests, but has subsequently been produced in the environment by decay of fallout ²⁴¹Pu.

A number of accidents involving radionuclides have added to this atmospheric fallout. An important example of this was the atmospheric burn-up in 1964 of an American satellite

which contained a System for Nuclear Auxiliary Power (SNAP) ²³⁸Pu power source. This accident over the Indian Ocean released 629 TBq of ²³⁸Pu and delivered to the world's population a collective dose of 2100 man Sv (UNSCEAR, 1993). Nuclear reactor accidents have also been responsible for catastrophically releasing radionuclides into the environment, the most serious of which was an explosion in a power reactor in Chernobyl, Ukraine in April 1986. This accident resulted in the release of noble gases and other volatile fission and activation products. An estimated 2 EBq of radionuclides were released from this accident (Warner and Harrison, 1993).

Plutonium has several isotopes, the most important with respect to environmental contamination being 238 Pu, 239 Pu, 240 Pu and 241 Pu. 239 Pu and 240 Pu have similar energies of α particle such that they are irresolvable by α spectrometry. Thus, ^{239,240}Pu is used to express a composite activity for the two nuclides. 239 Pu has a half-life of 2.41 x 10⁴ years and 240 Pu has a half-life of 6.56×10^3 years, with both isotopes being produced in nuclear reactors by neutron irradiation of ²³⁸U and ²³⁵U. ²³⁹Pu is fissile and can be used in nuclear bombs and reactors while ²⁴⁰Pu is not fissile and therefore cannot be used in bombs and reactors (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). Pu isotopes were important products of neutron capture reactions in weapons testing and have therefore been distributed worldwide. ²³⁸Pu. however, has a half-life of 87.7 years and was only a minor constituent of nuclear weapons fallout. In the 1950/60s, global fallout contained ²³⁸Pu/^{239,240}Pu with an activity ratio of about 0.025, which increased to about 0.04 after the SNAP satellite burn-up in 1964. ²⁴¹Pu has a half life of 14.4 years and, as mentioned above, decays to ²⁴¹Am (Choppin et al., 1995). ²⁴¹Am has a half life of 432 years. In addition to the production of ²⁴¹Am from decay of ²⁴¹Pu from fallout, ²⁴¹Am has been released to the environment from nuclear fuel reprocessing facilities. Sellafield, for example, had discharged a total inventory of 10^3 TBq of ²⁴¹Am in liquid effluent up to 1993 (MAFF, 1993).

¹³⁷Cs and ¹³⁴Cs are also important anthropogenic radioisotopes that occur as environmental contaminants. ¹³⁷Cs has a half life of 30.2 years, is a fission product and was deposited on the soil surface in the 1950s and 1960s for several years as a result of atmospheric weapons testing and again in 1986 for a few weeks as a result of the Chernobyl reactor accident.

Also, liquid effluent discharges from nuclear fuel reprocessing plants and nuclear reactors represent a pathway of ¹³⁷Cs to the environment. ¹³⁴Cs is a neutron capture product produced in nuclear reactors and was not present in nuclear weapons fallout. ¹³⁴Cs, as well as ¹³⁷Cs, was present in the Chernobyl derived fallout with a ¹³⁴Cs/¹³⁷Cs activity ratio of about 0.5 (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987)

Post deposition, Pu and Cs isotopes have different geochemical behaviours and therefore behave differently in the terrestrial environment (see section 1.3.4).

As well as being produced cosmogenically, tritium is also produced in the nuclear energy cycle, with some release to the atmosphere and the hydrosphere. The emissions differ between plants but a typical reprocessing plant could contribute an annual global injection of tritium in the order of 10 PBq (Choppin et al., 1995). This causes local increases in ³H activities in environmental materials.

1.2 Radiation doses and the public

1.2.1 - Sources of exposure

When radiation interacts with matter, it results in an absorbed dose. This is the energy imparted to a small element of material divided by the mass of that element. The unit of absorbed dose is the joule per kilogram, called the gray (Gy). This unit, however does not take into account the type of radiation and the part of the body which has been exposed. The effective dose, which takes these factors into account is quantified by the sievert (Sv) (UNSCEAR, 1993). Among the many contributors to the radiation dose received by the public, the greatest comes from the naturally occurring radionuclides, particularly the uranium and thorium series radionuclides and ⁴⁰K (NRPB, 1998). NRPB has estimated that the average annual dose to the UK population from all sources, both natural and anthropogenic is 2.6 mSv. The contribution of these different sources to this average annual dose is shown below in Figure 4 (NRPB, 1989).



Figure 4 - Sources of radiation exposure in the UK (NRPB, 1989).

Internal exposure arises mainly due to the ⁴⁰K content of the human body. The average human is approximately a 3.6×10^3 Bq source of ⁴⁰K, because of all potassium, 0.0117% is present as ⁴⁰K (Brown and Firestone, 1986).

Radiation and radionuclides are used in medicine for a variety of diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Also, radio-isotopic tracers are a useful tool in numerous areas of biomedical research, including metabolism studies, pharmacokinetics, and the detailed study of biomolecular interactions (WOS, 2001). Due to the large variety of radionuclides and the range of ways in which they are used, it is difficult to pinpoint any specific risks to the public from medical uses of radionuclides. Some hospitals incinerate their waste and also release radionuclides locally to the sewerage system. However, as short half-life radionuclides are most common in most medical procedures and research, they are unlikely to have severe long-term effects on the environment or the population. Examples of short-lived radionuclides commonly used in medicine include ^{99m}Tc which has a half-life of 6.006 hours (Longworth et al., 1998) and ¹³¹I which has a half-life of 8.04 days (Germain, 1993). The same is often true of research laboratories and universities, in that wide ranges of radionuclides are used in research, but at low levels. They are tightly controlled and probably present little threat.

Atmospheric fallout constitutes a significant source of manmade radionuclides to the environment and contributes about 0.4% to average radiation exposure in the UK (see section 1.2.1).

1.2.2 – Non-nuclear industries as a source of radionuclides to the urban environment Naturally occurring radioactive materials (NORM) used in industry, as well as a range of anthropogenic radionuclides used in industry, represent a potential source of radionuclides to the environment and could contribute to the radiation dose received by the population. As outlined in section 1.2.1, the contribution from industry and discharges is a very small percentage of the average annual dose, but it still may be highly significant to individuals living near, or in contact with, areas affected by local enhancement of radionuclides. This technologically enhanced radioactivity may arise from activities such as mining, phosphateprocessing, fossil-fuel burning, oil and gas extraction, ore and heavy mineral processing and forestry processes such as pulp production and biofuel use (Baxter, 1996). The metal recycling or 'scrap metal' industry also has the potential to distribute natural and man-made radionuclides. This technological enhancement of NORM in the metal recycling industry

was demonstrated in this country when ²¹⁰Po was selectively enriched in a large tin smelter in northeast England, which operated from 1937 to 1992. This selective enrichment of ²¹⁰Po resulted in a number of factory intermediates and waste gasses having elevated levels above the limit of 1.5×10^4 Bq kg⁻¹ for classification as a radioactive substance (Baxter et al., 1996). Whilst the specific activities of other natural decay series radionuclides were lower than the limit for classification as a radioactive substance, they were within or close to the range that was estimated by the UK National Radiological Protection Board to be potentially capable of giving rise to an occupational exposure of 5 mSv y⁻¹.

To continue on this theme, a licensed industrial radioactive source which is disposed of improperly is said to be 'orphaned' (USEPA, 2001(a)). These orphaned radioactive sources often find their way to non-nuclear facilities, particularly scrap yards, steel mills, and municipal waste disposal facilities. The consequences of losing track of a radioactive source can be not only costly to the business involved but widespread contamination can ensue, resulting in exposure to radiation of workers and possibly the general public. If these sources are melted down for recycling, the radioactive source can contaminate the whole batch of metal and consequently, the consumer product that is ultimately being manufactured. Also, the act of melting is likely to allow the escape of volatile radionuclides in the gaseous emissions from the plant (Nuclear-Free Local Authorities, 2001).

To give an indication of the scale of the problem, there were an estimated 30,000 orphaned sources in the USA in 2001 and there have been 26 recorded accidental meltings of radioactive material in the USA since 1983 (USEPA, 2001(a)). Closer to home, in May 2000, the Avesta Steel plant in Sheffield melted a small ²³⁸Pu source resulting in 16 tonnes of metal slag being contaminated and having to be designated as intermediate or low level waste (Nuclear-Free Local Authorities, 2001). However, there have been no reported meltings of radioactive sources in Scotland.

Over the last 2 or 3 years, many metal recycling companies have installed weighbridge radiation detection equipment. However, generally speaking, operations in Scotland are on a fairly small scale and therefore the cost of installing and running such systems is hard to justify. Detectors would require calibration and maintenance, which would have to be carried out by a qualified person or an approved body. Another important point is that if detection equipment was installed, it would most probably be for the detection of gamma radiation, thus excluding the possibility of detecting any contamination from alpha or beta emitters such as ²¹⁰Po as in the case of the Capper Pass refinery (Baxter et al., 1996). There are no regulations, at present, requiring detection equipment to be in place and SEPA does not hold records of those recycling facilities in Scotland that have radiation detection systems fitted.

The metal recycling industry is likely to be more vigilant with wastes originating from places where regulation of radioactive substances and wastes are less rigorous than in the UK and hence more likely to contain radionuclides (orphaned sources) but without thorough use of detection equipment, the potential for dispersal of radionuclides still exists. Effective regulation of radioactive substances and wastes, controls on the imports of radioactive wastes, detection systems at points of importation into the UK and the EU, effective communication and intelligence sharing, as well as detection systems within the metal recycling industry itself will all play a part in reducing the risks.

1.2.3 - Generalised Derived Limits

As a means of providing reference levels for public protection, Generalised Derived Limits (GDLs) for selected radionuclides and environmental media have been estimated (NRPB, 2000). These GDLs are intended for use as reference levels and are calculated for uniform conditions over a year, using deliberately cautious assumptions concerning the habits and location of the critical group of exposed individuals in a population. Where appropriate, the calculations take into account the conditions of discharge and the prevailing weather. There are GDLs set for many environmental media and, most importantly for this work, there are limits set for well-mixed soil and grass. There are, however, no GDLs set for street dust. If a guideline value for street dust was to be estimated for the purpose of this work, it would be significantly lower than the soil limit. This is because street dust is more likely to be resuspended in dry weather than a well-mixed soil and therefore more likely to be inhaled or ingested by members of the population.

The only GDL set for an anthropogenic radionuclide that is of direct significance to this work is that for ¹³⁷Cs as shown in Table 3. When GDLs are set for natural radionuclides, they only relate to possible increases in specific activities resulting from human activities, but they are useful indicators against which to assess the results from this work (Table 3).

	$^{137}Cs (Bq kg^{-1})$	²¹⁰ Pb (Bq kg ⁻¹)	²³⁵ U (Bq kg ⁻¹)	²³⁸ U (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Well-mixed soil	1000	80	7000	20 000
Grass	3000	-	-	-
	(dry weight)			

 Table 3 – Selected Generalised Derived Limits (NRPB, 2000)

1.2.4 - Effects of radiation on humans

Radiation interacts with, and causes damage to, biological tissue by ionisation. It can induce changes in our DNA, the basic material that controls the structure and function of cells that make up the human body. The amount of damage caused, and the time between exposure and the damage being expressed, depends on the type of radiation and the dose received (see also section 1.2.6) (UNSCEAR, 1993). There are two broad categories into which radiation exposure can be classed. The first is **stochastic** which relates to long-term, low level exposure with no immediately observable effects. In this case it is difficult to link one source of radiation to an illness in an individual. The incidence of lung cancer in smokers can be said to be stochastic, as a particular smoker may never develop the disease whilst someone with a similar smoking history may do so (EB, 2001).

Non-stochastic or a deterministic effect is one which can be directly related to a causative agent. With non-stochastic effects there is a threshold below which no observable effects occur and above which changes are sure to occur. There is also a direct relationship between the size of the dose received and the severity of the effects, once the threshold has

been breached (EB, 2001).

 α , β and γ radiations have different characteristics and different interactions with matter. This is extremely important when considering dose received by humans. Alpha particles typically have energies in the range of 4 MeV to 9 MeV and have a highly efficient interaction with electrons when passing through matter. They have a high specific ionisation and a high linear energy transfer (LET) (Choppin et al., 1995; Longworth et al., 1998). Ejected electrons will produce further ionisation thus giving rise to secondary ionisation. Alpha particle ranges are very short and are, for example, only a few centimetres in air. As alpha particles transfer all of their energy over short distances, a relatively small volume of tissue receives a high dose. This is the reason that alpha radiation does the most damage to biological tissue.

Beta particles also deposit their energy in absorbers predominantly through coulombic interactions with electrons. These interactions result in ionisation or excitation of electrons in the atoms of the absorbers, with secondary ionisation occurring from ejected electrons. This secondary ionisation accounts for 70-80% of the total ionisation by beta particles. The specific ionisation and LET are lower for beta than for alpha particles but the beta particles have a greater range.

Gamma ray energies are typically in the range of 20 keV to 2 MeV and the decay is characteristic of the nuclide undergoing decay. Gamma radiation interacts with matter primarily through three processes: the photoelectric effect, Compton scattering and pair production (Choppin et al., 1995). Gamma rays are much more penetrating than both alpha and beta particles, but have lower LET and specific ionisation capabilities.

Not only does the type of radiation and the way the dose is delivered influence the severity of the damage caused to the tissue, but the area of exposure is also very important. Localised exposure to the limbs, for example, will result in a less serious outcome than a whole body exposure or exposure to critically important organs (UNSCEAR, 1993).

1.2.5 - Human exposure pathways

The three pathways by which radiation from radionuclides can directly affect humans are: inhalation, ingestion and external exposure.

Inhalation of, for example, the daughter products of ²²²Rn will result in alpha radiation interacting directly with the lung tissue. Ingestion of radionuclides occurs through food and drink, but could also affect children with a pica habit, who may ingest contaminated soil. External radiation comes from the ground and from building materials as outlined in section 1.2.1.

The numerous and complex environmental pathways by which radionuclides can reach humans are summarised below in Figures 5 and 6:



Figure. 5- Pathways between radioactive materials released to the atmosphere and man (adapted from Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987)





1.2.6 - Factors controlling dose

Numerous factors related to place and type of dwelling and lifestyle affect the level of radiation dose received. The dose received from cosmic radiation is markedly affected by altitude. The annual cosmic-ray dose is about 0.29 m Sv y⁻¹ at sea level but for the first few kilometres above the earth's surface, the cosmic-ray dose rate doubles for each 2000 m increase in altitude. However, for the first 1000m, the *total* dose rate actually decreases with altitude above surface because of attenuation of the gamma rays from terrestrial sources occurs more rapidly than the increase in cosmic radiation (Schaefer, 1971). For example, residents of Leadville, Colorado (altitude 3200 m), receive about 1.25 m Sv y⁻¹ from cosmic rays; more than four times the annual dose at sea level (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). Cosmic radiation also increases with latitude. Polar dwellers receive a higher dose than that received by people living closer to the equator.

Occupation and travelling habits can also effect radiation doses received. For example, passengers and crew of high-flying aircraft are subject to additional exposure from cosmic rays. A transcontinental flight will result in a dose of about 0.025 mSv. Cabin attendants and flight crew are estimated to receive an incremental dose of about 1.60 m Sv y⁻¹ above that received at sea level (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987).

Foodstuffs vary quite considerably in their level of radioactivity. Brazil nuts have been found to be much more radioactive than other foodstuffs due to the tendency of the Brazil nut tree to concentrate barium, a chemical congener of radium. The radium concentration of Brazil nuts is of the order of 1000 times higher than that of other foodstuffs and this does not depend on the radium or barium content of the soil on which the tree is grown (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987).

The ground and building materials emit gamma radiation that comes primarily from the decay of natural potassium and uranium and thorium series radionuclides. The dose received from this source varies with the concentration of these elements in the surrounding rocks and building materials but is in the range of 120-1200 μ Sv y⁻¹ in the UK (average 350 μ Sv y⁻¹) (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987).

Levels of radon, the biggest single contributor to the radiation dose received in the UK, vary considerably from location to location depending on the geology, drift, soil type and soil moisture content. Indoor radon dose also depends on the type of building and the effectiveness of ventilation. The highest regional levels of radioactivity due to radon are mostly associated with the granites in southwest England, the Cairngorm and Etive granites in Scotland and carboniferous limestone formations, for example in Derbyshire (Appleton and Ball, 1995).

19

1.3 - Research area: history and environmental setting

1.3.1 - Geological setting of Glasgow

Geology is an important factor in determining background radiation levels as different rocks can have markedly different activities of uranium decay series radionuclides, thorium decay series radionuclides or ⁴⁰K. The bedrock of the Glasgow area consists of lower, middle and upper coal measures, basic intrusions, the passage group and the upper limestone group (BGS, 1986).

The lower part of the upper limestone group comprises thick, coarse-grained sandstones, with the remainder being fine-grained sandstones with mudstones and a few coal measures. The Passage group consists mainly of pebbly sandstones and interbedded seatclays with thin coals and mudstones (BGS, 1986).

The lower coal measures are also sandy with seatclays. Most of the middle coal measures consist of sandstones and mudstones in approximately equal proportions with numerous seams of coal. The middle and upper coal measures are characterised by the presence of coarse sandstones, with younger mudstones higher up the sequence. The strata have been reddened and many of the coal seams have been oxidised. Intrusive igneous rocks in the area are mostly olivine-dolerite sills of the late Westphalian age (~300 million years old) (BGS, 1986).

Superficial deposits are dominated by the Late Devensian ice sheet's terminal moraine in the east of the city and a submarine outwash fan in the west of the city. Glaciomarine muds occur widely. Numerous drift profiles or sequences have developed as a result of this complicated late quaternary history. However, till, which is the most widespread deposit, often forms the only drift directly resting on bedrock. Much of this till has been moulded into drumlins, for which the city is famous. Clays and silts from the area have been extensively exploited for brick and tile manufacture (BGS, 1986).
The River Clyde, around which Glasgow was built, is tidal through most of the city. It was the presence of coal measures and other mineral wealth, combined with the deep River Clyde that made Glasgow such a viable place for industry.

1.3.2 - City of Glasgow

Glasgow is Scotland's largest city with a current population of approximately 612,000 (Glasgow City Council, 2000). The city was a major industrial centre for over 100 years due to its ideal situation on the West Coast and next to the River Clyde. 1772 saw the first large vessels navigating up the River Clyde and this turned an already considerable tobacco trade into a booming one, along with the sugar trade. By the end of the 18th century, Glasgow was the UK's biggest sugar importer.

This industrial past has left a legacy of widespread and varied industrial contamination, which may provide potential sources of radionuclides to the environment. An example of the use of radionuclides in an old industry is the use of radium in the luminising paint for clock faces (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). Watchmakers and repairers in the City of Glasgow would have used this luminising paint. In addition to this, radium needles, which were use in the early days of radiotherapy, were made at Glasgow University by the Nobel Prize winner Fred Soddy (personal communication: Keith McKay). Use of radium in industry occurred out with, but close to the city of Glasgow at the radium factory in Balloch on the banks of the river Leven, and the Smiths Industries factory at Gowkthrapple near Motherwell, South Lanarkshire (personal communication: Keith McKay).

This industrial city had Scotland's first millionaires, who owned large estates and property. One of these estates in Glasgow is Pollok Park, which was used as a study site.

1.3.3 - Pollok Park

Pollok Park has been in existence for in excess of 700 years and covers an area of 361 acres (City of Glasgow District Council, 1985). There are golf courses around the park so, even though the park is within the city, it is remote from many potential sources of radionuclides. There are distinct areas of coniferous and deciduous woodland in the park, which take up 15% of the estate's area. There are also distinct areas of grassland and fertilised hay fields. This combination of contrasting environments in well defined areas in the estate makes it an excellent study area. The estate was gifted to Glasgow City Council in 1967 by the Maxwell family and now houses the Burrell Collection (City of Glasgow District Council, 1985). Soil characteristics of deciduous and coniferous woodland environments are outlined below.

(i) Deciduous forest environment

Deciduous soil is typically well aggregated and porous, is dark brown and grades gradually to a more mineral soil. It is typically rich in soil organisms, the most important of which is the earthworm. This type of soil is characterised by Mull humus. The C: N ratio of the upper horizons is typically between 10 and 15 (see Figure 7) (Fitzpatrick, 1974; The Royal Society of Chemistry, 1999)



Figure. 7- A typical deciduous soil profile (diagram not to scale) (Fitzpatrick, 1974)

(ii) Coniferous forest environment

The coniferous forest environment typically exhibits a podzol profile, which is sharply differentiated and contains blackish organic layers (mor humus). This soil is most typically poorly drained and devoid of earthworms and has a lower pH than deciduous forest soil (Figure 8). The C: N ratio is typically greater than 30 and the soil is often rich in phenolic groups. The type and steric arrangement of the functional groups facilitates, or otherwise, the complexation of metal cations (Fitzpatrick, 1974; The Royal Society of Chemisty, 1999).



Figure. 8- A typical coniferous soil profile (diagram not to scale) (Fitzpatrick, 1974)

1.3.4 - Behavior of radionuclides in soils

Although some generalisations concerning the relative degree of fixation of many radionuclides in soil are possible, the behaviour of the radionuclides is dependent on sitespecific factors such as rates of rainfall, drainage and local physicochemical conditions. However, when a radionuclide (in a soluble form) comes into contact with soil, it can adsorb to reactive coatings on particles, undergo ion exchange, precipitate as an oxidehydroxide or sulphide, be complexed with organic compounds, or remain in ionic form (Schultz, 1965). The manner in which the radionuclides partition between these fractions (i.e. the physicochemical behaviour) will determine the degree to which soils can act as a sink or a potential diffuse source for radionuclides (Skipperud et al., 2000). When radionuclides are transported by water moving through porous or fractured geologic media, the phenomenon of sorption causes the rate of movement of the radionuclides to be reduced relative to the rate of movement of the water. This "retardation factor" is determined by the rates of sorption and desorption on media surfaces. The ions of some elements are bound so tightly to soil particles that they are nearly immobile. In this respect, cations are generally more strongly sorbed than anions because of the dominance of negatively charged particles on soil surfaces.

It was shown by Hardy (1974) that, years after the maximum fallout pulse in 1963, the inventories of ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs, and ^{239,240}Pu present in the top 30 cm of a sandy loam were nearly equivalent to the quantities estimated to have been deposited at that latitude. This indicated little removal of these radionuclides from the site. Another study by Alexander (1967) concluded that ¹³⁷Cs is more tightly bound by soil than ⁹⁰Sr and that the uptake of ¹³⁷Cs by plants is limited by its strong retention to clays (Livens and Baxter, 1988; Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987; Szerbin et al., 1999). Radiocaesium, however, does have a high degree of mobility in organic soil, but this movement can be restricted by the presence of small amounts of mineral matter. Interactions with illitic clays hold the ¹³⁷Cs in a relatively available form, with more permanent fixation occuring where interlayer collapse results in trapping of the ¹³⁷Cs within the mineral lattice (Livens and Loveland, 1988; Hird et al., 1996). This mobility of radiocaesium in organic soils may render it of

limited value in providing chronological information, but it has been suggested that the presence of even small amounts of mineral matter may restrict this mobility (Szerbin et al., 1999). A study by MacKenzie et al., (1997) established that downward migration of radiocaesium happened at a faster rate immediately post-deposition (on a 5-year time scale) than longer term migration (30-year timescale) being characterised by apparent diffusion coefficients of the order of 10^{-7} cm² s⁻¹ and 10^{-8} cm² s⁻¹, respectively (MacKenzie et al., 1997). The vertical distribution of 137 Cs activity, the percentage of exchangeable radioceasium in each horizon and the root distribution over the soil profile are all factors in governing the availability of 137 Cs transfer to plants (Fesenko et al., 2001).

In research carried out by Hogbom and Nohrstedt (2001), wood-ash from areas of forest contaminated by Chernobyl fallout was applied to previously relatively uncontaminated forest soil. Contrary to expectations, there was a decrease in the ¹³⁷Cs radioactivity in some of the soils. This decrease in radioactivity was partly due to the fact that one of the main constituents of wood-ash is K, which is antagonistic to ¹³⁷Cs (Hogbom and Nohrstedt, 2001). A study which investigated the associations of radionuclides with different molecular size fractions in soil solution concluded that ¹³⁷Cs was present in low molecular weight forms and, as such, was mobile in soil and potentially available for plant uptake (Nisbet et al., 1993). This finding was in contrast to the large proportion (61-87%) of the ²³⁹Pu and ²⁴¹Am that was associated with colloidal and high molecular weight material and is therefore less available for plant uptake (Nisbet et al., 1993; Agapkina et al., 1995). The study by Nisbet et al. (1993) was carried out on a loam, a peat and a sandy soil and so some of the conclusions may not be directly transferable to the contrasting forest soils used in this current study. A novel method of investigating radionuclide associations involving gel chromatographic and gel electrophoretic separation, (Graham et al., 2000) showed that the association of U in soils was skewed towards larger humic molecules. These humic materials have strong complexing and redox reaction potential with metal ions (Choppin, 1988).

Plutonium generally forms insoluble fluorides, hydroxides and oxides in soil, and solubility in water is dependent on the redox conditions, pH and organic ligands present (Eisenbud and Gesell, 1987). A study by Skipperud et al. (2000), concluded that after only one hour of

contact time, 33% of the Pu (III, IV)-organic, 35 % of the Pu (V,VI) and up to 40% of Pu (III, IV) were already in the strongly bound fraction. This limited mobility may be related to the previously mentioned association with high molecular weight material. The conclusions of a study by Muramatsu et al. (2001) suggested that the mobility of Pu in the soil column is less than that of ¹³⁷Cs. Sequential extraction experiments (Livens and Baxter, 1988) identified major associations of plutonium with organic matter and found plutonium phase dominance to decrease in the order:

Organic > Oxide > Residual > Absorbed > Exchangeable (Livens and Baxter, 1988).

There has been a considerable amount of research on lead in soils and the use of ²¹⁰Pb-dated ombrotrophic peat cores to reconstruct historical trends in atmospheric deposition had become fairly well established (Shotyk et al., 1997; MacKenzie et al., 1998; Testa et al., 1999). There is strong evidence that lead is immobile in unsaturated ombrotrophic systems but in saturated peat systems, lead may be subject to diagenetic remobilization and thus may have limited use when interpreting the historical record (Urban et al., 1990; MacKenzie et al., 1998). Post depositional mobility of lead was also observed in a study by Johnson et al., (1995) in which it was reported 30 % of the total atmospheric input of Pb was not retained in the organic soils and pond sediments. Friedland et al. (1993) similarly reported mobility of lead in organic rich forest soils in the USA, suggesting that Pb mobility was induced by formation of a soluble organic complex. The processes behind this immobility or mobility are controlled by a number of physicochemical factors. A study by Wang and Benoit (1996) showed that soils with low pH exhibited reduced Pb complexation with both organic and inorganic dissolved ligands, thus decreasing the chance for Pb transport (Wang and Benoit, 1996). This has implications for the present study as the forest soils under investigation have relatively low pH values. Sequential extraction studies observed lead phase dominance in soil in the order: reducible> residual > oxidizable > absorbed, exchangeable and carbonate (AEC) phase (Sutherland and Tack, 2000).

Particle size distribution of radionuclides in soils is another important factor to consider. In general, it is the finer fractions of soil which have the higher concentrations of

radionuclides. For example, in a study of 232 Th and 238 U in soils, the highest activity was observed in the 125-250 μ fraction (Narayana et al., 1995) and 137 Cs concentrations were several times higher in the finer fractions (< 8 μ m) than those in coarser fractions (He and Walling, 1996).

1.4 - Background to research

There has been little geochemical research done in urban areas to date. As 70% of the population in developed countries live in urban areas (Warner and Harrison, 1993), it is an extremely important, and often overlooked, area of study. The findings from rural settings are often non-transferable to the urban context, as there are many complexities that come with a managed environment.

In a three-month pilot study of radionuclides in the urban environment in July 2000, 14 sites around Glasgow were investigated (Peurou, 2000). Sites were selected close to universities, hospitals and chemistry laboratories and the work focussed on the distribution of ¹³⁷Cs, ⁷Be and ⁴⁰K. The activities of these radionuclides were found to vary considerably from site to site and this formed the basis for the sampling protocol adopted for this current study.

1.5 – Detailed objectives

This thesis presents the results of a study undertaken to investigate natural and anthropogenic radionuclides within the city of Glasgow. The research incorporates a citywide investigation of radionuclide activities in a range of environmental materials and a more detailed study of radionuclide distributions and inventories in soil cores from a park within the city. The aims of this study were:

- To undertake a preliminary investigation of the distribution, environmental concentrations and variability of radionuclides in the urban environment of Glasgow
- To investigate potential enhancement of radionuclide concentrations in the environment around medical and research establishments
- To investigate the vertical distributions, inventories and geochemical associations of radionuclides in coniferous forest soil, deciduous forest soil and grassland soil in a managed parkland environment

Chapter 2. Sample collection, experimental methods and analysis

This initial investigation of the behaviour and distribution of radionuclides in the urban environment of Glasgow, entailed selection of sites both close to, and remote from possible point sources of radionuclides. Although the selection of the majority of sample sites focused on their location relative to possible point sources the sampling strategy also attempted to achieve a comprehensive geographical spread of sample sites over the city. The sampling strategy included two main sampling programmes in October- November 2000 and April 2001, in which the same sites were re-sampled. Sample locations are given in Table 4. The results from these two sample sets were used in conjunction with those from a pilot study (Peurou, 2000) in order to assess variability of radionuclide activities over both space and time. Small scale spatial variation was also investigated at two sites.

The amalgamation of these three sample sets allows the creation of a tentative baseline for comparison with any possible future enhancement from either a point source or a larger scale release of radionuclides to the environment. This data set may also be used to attempt to establish causes for any variations in background radiation levels.

As an extension to this urban sampling programme, a more detailed investigation of radionuclide distribution and inventories in contrasting soils in a managed parkland environment was carried out. In addition to acting as a reference site for the city-wide sampling programme, Pollok Park provided an ideal setting for this more detailed component of the research which had the specific aims:

- To act as a control site remote from possible point sources of radionuclides.
- To define inventories of radionuclides (Bq m⁻²) for the urban environment of Glasgow.
- To attempt to derive a more detailed understanding of radionuclide behaviour in three contrasting environments within the park.

Pollok Park is an ideal site for the investigation of radionuclide behaviour in contrasting soil

types as there are well established, clearly defined areas of grassland, coniferous woodland and deciduous woodland very close together. The proximity of all the sites is advantageous, as it is reasonable to assume that the amount and type of atmospherically deposited radionuclides are the same at all the sample sites in the park. Thus any differences in the inventories or behaviour of radionuclides can be directly attributed to canopy or vegetation interception, soil type or an environmental factor specific to the area in question.

2.1 – Sample site locations

Site ID	Site locations:	Grid Ref:	Sample type	Analysis laboratory
1	Glasgow University/ Western Infirmary	NS 568 664	3 x grass 3 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 3 x street dust.	₫GCSS
2	Gartnavel Hospital	NS 555 684	3 x grass 3 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 3 x street dust.	GCSS
3	Strathclyde University/ Royal Infirmary	NS 604 658	3 x grass 3 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 3 x street dust.	GCSS
4	Victoria Infirmary	NS 582 619	 ^a5 x grass 5 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 5 x street dust. 	GCSS
5	Southern General Hospital	NS 539 656	3 x grass 3 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 3 x street dust.	GCSS
6a	Pollok Park Unfertilised grassland	NS 554 621	 ^b1 x Grass 1 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 1 x street dust 1 x 1 cm increment core (0-17cm) 1 x bulk soil (0-2 cm) 1 x 1 cm increment short core (0-7cm) 	GCSS [°] SUERC
6b	Pollok Park Fertilised hayfield	NS 559 623	^b 1 x Grass 1 x bulk soil (0-15 cm) 1 x street dust	GCSS

6c	Pollok Park	NS 556 627	^b 1 x 1 cm increment	SUERC
	Coniferous forest		core (0-20cm)	
	Connerous iorest		1 x 1 cm increment	
			short core (0-7cm)	
			1 x bulk soil (0-2 cm)	
			1 x bulk soil (2-4 cm)	
			1 x bulk leaf sample	
6d	Pollok Park	NS 556 628	^b 1x 1 cm increment core	SUERC
	Deciduous forest		(0-20cm)	
			1x 1 cm increment short	
			core (0-7cm)	
			1 x bulk soll (0-2 cm)	
			1 x bulk lear sample	
7	Colston Laboratory	NS 603 692	^a 6 x grass	GCSS
,	Conston Europratory,	110 005 072	6 x bulk soil (0.15 cm)	
	Everard Drive		6 x street dust	
8	Summerston.	NS 568 704	$^{\circ}$ 2 x grass	GCSS
Ű			$2 \times \text{grass}$ 2 x bulk soil (0-15 cm)	
	Staffin Drive		2 x street dust.	
9	Robroyston	NS 623 684	^c 2 x grass	GCSS
	roundabout		2 x bulk soil (0-15 cm)	
			2 x street dust.	
	River Clyde			
	sample sites:			
10	Dalmarnock	NS 616 627	3 x 1litre estuarine	GCSS
	Bridge		water	
1 1		NG (00 (00	0 111	0.000
11	Kings Bridge,	NS 600 638	3 x llitre estuarine	GCSS
	Kings Drive		water	
12	Scottish Exhibition	NS 572 652	3 x 1 litre estuarine	GCSS
	and Conference		water	
	Centre			
13	Balmoral Street	NS 527 673	3 x 1litre estuarine	GCSS
			water	
14	Renfrew Ferry	NS 512 686	3 x 1litre estuarine	GCSS
			water	
			2 x 5 litre estuarine	
			water	

Table 4 – Sample site locations, grid references, sample details and analysis	
laboratory	

^aIdeally, several samples would have been taken at each site and at each sampling time to assess the local spatial variation in radionuclide concentrations. This, however, was outwith the scope of a one year project, so at each sampling time, one of the sites was chosen for more thorough investigation. In November 2000, four of each sample type were collected, instead of simply one, at the Colston Laboratory site and in April 2001, three of each were collected at the Victoria Infirmary. An average specific activity for each radionuclide from each site was calculated from these replicate samples and used in the main body of the results. The individual values were not used in calculation of the summary statistics as used in the discussion, to avoid the results being biased towards the values at these sites.

^b Access to the reference site in Pollok Park was not permitted during April due to the foot and mouth outbreak in the UK.

^c The sites in Summerston and Robroyston were not sampled during the pilot study in July 2000 (Peurou, 2000).

^d Glasgow City Scientific Services

^e Scottish Universities Environmental Research Centre

Also see the fold out map (Figure 9) for sample site locations.





2.2 - Sample collection and initial preparation

2.2.1 - Grass

The sample was collected by cutting the grass close to the ground with shears (avoiding including any soil or roots in the sample) over an area of approximately 2 m². Upon return to the laboratory, the fresh weight of the sample was recorded, after which the sample was shredded mechanically, mixed, and a 500 g sub-sample transferred to a 1 litre plastic tub for autoclaving. This sub-sample was autoclaved at 121°C for 15 minutes at 15 psi. A portion of the autoclaved sample was packed into a pre-weighed 500 ml container, weighed and sealed with tape. The container was labelled and stored pending gamma-ray spectrometry analysis at the Glasgow City Scientific Services Colston Laboratory.

Once the sample had been analysed it was spread out on an oven tray and dried for 24 hours at $105 \,^{0}$ C. The weight of the dried sample was recorded and used in calculation of the results in Bq kg⁻¹.

2.2.2 - Soil

(i) Bulk soil samples

The bulk soil samples were collected to a depth of 15 cm using a metal coring implement. The sample was taken from beneath the previously cut grass sampling area and roots were removed from the top of the sample. Enough cores were taken close together and combined at each site to make up a fresh sample weight of approximately 500 g.

Once back in the laboratory, the fresh weight of the sample was recorded using a top pan balance. The sample was spread out on an oven tray lined with foil and roughly mixed, after which it was dried at 105 °C for 24 hours and the weight of the dried sample was recorded. The dried sample was milled through a 2 mm sieve in a hammer mill. The soil was then mixed thoroughly and packed into a pre-weighed plastic counting container. The weight of the sample used was recorded and the container was sealed pending gamma-ray

spectrometry analysis.

(ii) Soil cores and leaves/ leaf litter

Three soil cores were taken in October 2000:

- 1) A 0-20 cm deciduous (Beech) forest soil core taken in 1 cm increments.
- 2) A 0-20 cm coniferous (Corsican pine) forest soil core taken in 1 cm increments.
- 3) A 0-17 cm grassland soil core taken in 1 cm increments.

A hole was dug at each site to expose a soil profile and the 1cm increments were removed individually using a flat metal trowel. The area from which the sample was taken was measured and recorded.

Once back in the laboratory, the soil was dried at 105° C for 24 hours, ground using a mortar and pestle and sieved to < 2 mm. 10g samples of dried, sieved soil were pelleted using an Enerpac hydraulic press (made by Runice Bros). These pellets were then placed in polystyrene weighing pots with lids, weighed accurately and sealed using Araldite glue. This seal provided an impenetrable barrier to ²²²Rn and thus allowed radioactive equilibrium between ²²⁶Ra and ²²²Rn to be reached. Once this equilibrium had been established (after approximately 21 days) the samples were ready to be analysed by gamma spectrometry. As access to the park was unavailable in April 2001, due to the foot and mouth outbreak in the UK, additional samples were collected in June 2001 to provide material for pH measurement and for a study of radionuclide geochemical associations using the BCR sequential extraction technique (Rauret et al., 2000). The samples collected in June 2001 were as follows:

- 1) A grassland soil core (0-7 cm) and a bulk grassland soil sample (0-2 cm)
- A deciduous soil core (0-7 cm), bulk soil sample (0-2 cm), a leaf litter sample and a sample of deciduous leaves.
- A coniferous soil core (0-7 cm), bulk soil samples from 0-2 cm and 2-4 cm and a sample of coniferous leaves.

4)

The short cores were dug out intact and taken to the laboratory to be split into 1 cm increments. The leaves were collected from directly above the area where the soil samples were taken. The deciduous litter was scraped off the top of the soil, whilst *in situ*, after the

removal of the leaves.

Once back in the laboratory, pH measurements were carried out on the field moist short cores using a multifunction 'Jenway' pH and conductivity meter. The pH in soil is determined by several factors: the amount and type of organic matter, the type of cations present and the clay content of the soil (Fitzpatrick, 1974). Large amounts of organic matter can induce acidity except when counterbalanced by high concentrations of basic cations. The clay content of a soil is of major importance in this context, as a strong neutralising or buffering capacity is provided by the reaction represented below:

Clay- O – H
$$\rightarrow$$
 Clay- O⁻ + H⁺

As these factors will also affect the behaviour of radionuclides, it is valuable to have pH measurements. Redox conditions are also an important variable within soil but measurement of the Eh was out with the scope of this project.

Once the pH measurements were completed on the field moist soil, the samples were oven dried at 105 °C. Once dried, the soil was ground using a mortar and pestle and passed through a 2 mm sieve. The portion to pass through the sieve was stored in sealed plastic bags pending further analysis.

To gain a greater understanding of the soil characteristics, loss on ignition measurements were made on the 0-20 cm deciduous and coniferous cores and the 0-17 cm grassland core. Furnacing dry soil and determining the loss in weight provides an approximate measure of the soil organic matter content. This was useful in defining an important difference between the soil types. Sub-samples of the dried soil samples were weighed accurately into furnace-proof, ceramic crucibles and heated at 500 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 hours. Once cooled, they were reweighed and the % loss in weight was calculated. In the case of the more organic samples, the temperature of the furnace was increased incrementally in 100 $^{\circ}$ C increments to avoid sudden, violent ignition of the sample.

2.2.3 – Street dust

Street dust was collected using a dustpan and brush. The samples were taken from as close to the grass and soil sampling sites as was possible. Upon return to the laboratory the fresh sample was weighed, mixed roughly, spread out on an oven tray and dried at 105 °C for 24 hours. The dried sample was weighed, ground using a mortar and pestle then sieved (2 mm). The portion that passed through the sieve was weighed and a sub-sample was removed using a 50 ml scoop. This was transferred to a pre-weighed 50 ml plastic counting tub, weighed and stored pending gamma spectrometry analysis.

2.2.4 - Clyde Estuary water

Clyde Estuary water was sampled at 5 locations within the city, twice throughout the year, using a bucket attached to a rope. These one-litre samples were stored in clean, labelled plastic bottles prior to processing and analysis for tritium.

An additional five-litre sample was taken twice at the Renfrew Ferry sampling site (Grid Ref: NS 512 686) for analysis by gamma spectrometry. Once back in the laboratory, these five litre samples were filtered through whatman No: 40 filter papers then filtered again through 0.45 μ m cellulose nitrate membrane filters. Once filtered, the sample was placed in a large glass beaker, 100 ml of concentrated nitric acid was added and the sample was mixed. It was then reduced down to a volume of one-litre on a medium temperature hotplate. This one litre sample was transferred to a pre-weighed one-litre counting geometry and stored pending analysis by gamma spectrometry.

2.3 Analysis techniques

2.3.1 - Gamma Spectrometry analysis

Gamma spectrometry analysis was carried out both at the Glasgow City Scientific Services (GCSS) laboratory in Colston and at the Scottish Universities Environmental Research Centre (SUERC). Both laboratories had slightly different approaches to the technique but in both cases, the samples were analysed using shielded high-resolution germanium semiconductor detectors. Energy calibration is an essential requirement for gamma spectroscopy as it is the exact energy that identifies radionuclides on the basis of the photopeaks in the spectrum. This energy calibration is achieved by measuring standards of mixed sources of known radionuclides with well-defined energies in the range of interest. These standards are also used to determine the counting efficiency as a function of energy. This is dependent on the energy of the gamma-emitter, the source geometry and on selfabsorption in the source (Debertin and Helmer, 1998).

Three different detectors at GCSS were used in this research:

- 1) Ortec Gem series HPGe coaxial detector (model GEM-25185-p)
- 2) Ortec GMX series HPGe coaxial detector (model GMX-18190)
- 3) Canberra germanium detector (model GC3518-7500SL)

Each detector is shielded by a graded Pb-Cd-Cu shield and all have been calibrated using standards of a range of sample types spiked with known activities of a mixed radionuclide standard solution supplied by the National Physics Laboratory. Background counts were recorded for each detector and were subtracted from sample spectra as appropriate. To achieve good counting statistics, the number of counts in the time interval chosen must be significantly larger than the number of background counts in that same time interval (Debertin and Helmer, 1998). To this effect, the samples were counted for 60 000 seconds each, with the exception of the 1 litre estuarine samples, which were counted for 200 000 seconds . Spectral analysis was performed using FitzPeaks 32 gamma analysis and calibration software version 3.36.

The gamma spectroscopy analysis at SUERC was carried out using a low background Canberra low energy germanium (LEGe) detector with a graded Pb-Cd-Cu shield. Gamma spectrometry analysis of the samples was carried out using a three and a half day count time for each sample. The sample pots were placed directly on the end cap of the detector, which itself was covered by a cling-film cover. The peak analysis programme used was the EG&G Ortec package, Gamma Vision. Significant variations in self absorption of gamma radiation (in particular at low energy) occur in response to variations in the organic content of the samples. As the samples to be analysed at SUERC had variable and often high organic contents, it was necessary to prepare a set of standards that matched the chemical composition of the samples. In order to do this, standards of mass 10g, spiked with appropriate activities of ²⁴¹Am, ²²⁶Ra, ²¹⁰Pb and ¹³⁷Cs, were made with 7% organic matter, 20% organic matter and 55% organic matter. Gamma spectra of the standards were recorded and the % detection efficiency calculated from:

% detection efficiency =
$$\frac{\text{counts per second from standard}}{\text{decay corrected activity (Bq) of standard}}$$
 x $\frac{100}{1}$ %

The ²²⁶Ra specific activity was calculated on the basis of the ²¹⁴Pb spectra peaks at 295 keV and 352 keV and the total ²¹⁰Pb specific activity was calculated from the 46.5 keV peak. The unsupported ²¹⁰Pb activity was then calculated by subtracting the ²²⁶Ra specific activity from the total ²¹⁰Pb specific activity. The detectors at GCSS were calibrated between 50 and 2000 keV and therefore, as the principal ²¹⁰Pb gamma peak occurs at 46.5 keV, reliable ²¹⁰Pb results were not achievable.

In both laboratories, corrections were made for the background count rate by subtracting an experimentally established background rate. The detection limit will depend on the sample composition, the energy of the radiation, the source-detector distance, the detector efficiency, the background and the available time for measurement. Potential sources of error include improper spectral analysis, changes in background, errors in calibration and geometry and lack of homogeneity in samples.

40

2.3.2 Plutonium analysis

The oven-dried soil was weighed into heatproof, ceramic crucibles and furnaced overnight at 500°C to destroy the organic matter. Once cooled, the sample was washed into a large beaker using reverse osmosis water (ROW) and the samples were dampened with a few drops of 9 mol 1^{-1} HCl. Once effervescence had ceased, the samples were spiked with 1 ml of 242 Pu with an activity of 0.0073 Bq ml⁻¹ using an accurate pipette. At this stage, a few drops of 10 mg ml⁻¹ Fe³⁺ carrier solution were added. Approximately 300 ml of 9 mol 1^{-1} HCl were then added, the beakers were placed on a hot plate at medium temperature (100-200⁰C) and taken to near dryness.

Up to 50 ml of hydrogen peroxide were carefully added, as required, to break down any residual organic material and, once any vigorous reaction had died down, the sample was again taken to near dryness. 100 ml of aqua regia were added and, again, the solution was taken almost to dryness. Approximately 200 ml of 9 mol 1^{-1} HCl were mixed well with the sample, heated gently then left to stand overnight.

Each sample was transferred to a centrifuge bottle, was washed in with 9 mol Γ^1 HCl, and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3500 rpm. The solution was decanted and the supernatant saved. 9 mol Γ^1 HCl was added to the residual solid in the centrifuge tubes after which the tubes were shaken and then centrifuged once again. This was repeated, ensuring the supernatant was clear then repeated again with ROW. This volume of supernatant was reduced to approximately 500 ml (if required) and ammonia was added until a brown Fe(OH)₃ precipitate formed. The sample was mixed well and left to settle out, after which it was again centrifuge bottles was washed with ROW until all the ammonia was removed. The precipitate was then re-dissolved in 9 mol Γ^1 HCl. As Fe³⁺ behaves in a similar way to plutonium, it was necessary to remove this using a Di-isopropyl Ether (DIPE) solvent extraction. This extraction was carried out in solvent extraction flasks until the iron had been visibly removed (until the solution was colourless). The ether layer was

discarded and the aqueous layer was saved. This solution was taken almost to dryness and up to 10 ml of 15 mol I^{-1} HNO₃ were added then taken to near dryness again. This step was repeated three times to ensure oxidation of the plutonium from the +3 to the +4 state. The sample was then taken up in concentrated HCl and reduced to near dryness prior to dissolution in 9 mol I^{-1} HCl for ion exchange separation of plutonium using a method based upon that of Wong (1971).

The next stage involved separation using a $6 \text{ cm x} 1 \text{ cm}^2$ column of Biorad AG1-x8 anion exchange resin preconditioned with 1.2 mol l^{-1} HCl and 9 mol l^{-1} HCl (approximately 50 ml of each). The sample was passed through the column in 9M HCl and rinsed with approximately 100 ml of 9 mol 1^{-1} HCl. This rinsing was to ensure that the entire sample was washed off the sides of the glassware. In 9 mol Γ^1 HCl all the plutonium is held on the resin in the forms $(PuCl_5)^{-1}$ and $(PuCl_6)^{2^{-1}}$. Iron and uranium are also held on the column under these conditions but other interfering substances such as radium, thorium and americium pass through the column. The plutonium was eluted, into a clean beaker, with 6 batches of 20 ml 9 mol Γ^1 HCl mixed with 5ml 1 mol Γ^1 NH₄I. This elution involves the reduction of the plutonium by I^{-} to the 3^{+} oxidation state, which cannot form anionic complexes with the HCl and is therefore not held by the resin. Once through the column, the eluting solution was taken to dryness on the hotplate and concentrated HNO₃ was added to remove the iodine by oxidation. This was repeated until all traces of iodine had been removed and no brown gas was given off. This is important as any traces of I left behind can result in a low plutonium yield. The solution was then transferred by pipette into a clean beaker, taking care to wash only the base of beaker and not the sides where there may have been residual iodine. A few ml of concentrated HNO₃ were added, the sample was taken to dryness then this was repeated once. The sample was dissolved in 8 mol 1^{-1} HNO₃ prior to the second stage of the anion exchange separation. The second column was preconditioned with 50 ml 1.2 mol 1^{-1} HCl then with approximately 50 ml of 8 mol 1^{-1} HNO₃. The sample was passed through in 8 mol 1^{-1} HNO₃ and the column sides were rinsed, using a clean pipette each time, with up to 100 ml of 8 mol 1^{-1} HNO₃, then with a few millilitres of 9 mol

42

 I^{-1} HCl. This time the plutonium is held on the column but the iron and uranium pass through. The plutonium was eluted into a clean beaker using 6 batches of 20 ml 9 mol I^{-1} HCl mixed with 5ml 1 mol I^{-1} NH₄I. Iodine was removed by evaporation and addition of concentrated HNO₃ (Wong, 1971).

The samples were transferred by pipette to clean beakers, washing in with HNO₃. Once this solution was taken to near dryness, the plutonium isotopes were re-dissolved in approximately 4 drops of concentrated HCl. To prepare a thin source of plutonium on a 2.5 cm diameter stainless steel planchette, the solution was transferred to an electrodeposition cell in approximately 40 ml of 3.75% (w/V) ammonium chloride plating solution. The cell consists of a Perspex cylindrical body with a platinum wire anode in the centre. The perspex cell is screwed onto a copper base and a stainless steel planchette, on which the plutonium is deposited, acts as the cathode. This planchette is firmly fixed in the centre of the base and sealed from the plating solution by a Teflon coated rubber-o-ring fitted between the planchette and the cell body. A locating pin is fitted in the copper base for electrical contact to the power supply. The copper base of the cell acts as a sink for the heat produced during the plating. The samples were electrodeposited onto the stainless steel planchette for one hour at a current of 3 Amps and a potential of 15 Volts (Hallberg and Brise, 1960).

Immediately before the end of the plating, 2 ml of ammonia were added to raise the pH of the solution and prevent re-dissolution of the electrodeposited plutonium once the voltage was switched off. The planchette was then removed, rinsed using ROW and air dried prior to alpha spectroscopy analysis.

2.3.3 - Alpha spectroscopy

Alpha spectrometry was performed using Canberra passivated ion implanted planar Si detectors in a Canberra Quad Alpha spectroscopy system. The planchettes were counted for between one week and three weeks in order to obtain suitable counting statistics.

Alpha spectroscopy must be performed under vacuum and usually has a low background.

However, the background count was measured periodically through the counting period and subtracted from the sample count rate.

The activity of the nuclide of interest in the sample is calculated from:

Where Asample and Aspike are the respective activities of the isotope of interest in the sample and the spike, and Csample and Cspike are the corresponding count rates. The specific activity of the isotope of interest is then calculated by dividing its activity by the mass of the sample.

Error calculations

Net counts = counts(sample)- **counts**(background)

 1σ net counts = [(counts sample or spike) + (counts background)]^{1/2}

The certified uncertainty on the spike is 1%, and so the total % error (S) involved in the measurement is:

 $S_{sample} = \sqrt{[(S_{counts sample})^2 + (S_{counts spike})^2 + (S_{certified uncertainty of spike})^2]}$

2.3.4 - BCR sequential extraction

The BCR sequential extraction scheme was developed to act as a standard method when aiming to determine the geochemical association pattern of metals within a soil or sediment. There are three extraction steps, with a different phase of the soil being targeted at each stage (Rauret et al., 2000). These phases along with the reagents used are listed below:

(i) Reagent	Target phase
Acetic acid	Exchangeable
Hydroxylammonium Chloride	Reducible
Hydrogen peroxide/ Ammonium acetate	Oxidizeable

Formerly the reducible phase was often designated as the Fe/ Mn oxyhydroxides and the oxidizeable phase designated as organic. In practice however, extractants do not specifically and selectively dissolve these phases, so the terminology was broadened to the more general terms of reducible and oxidizeable.

The extracting solutions were prepared as follows:

• $0.11 \text{ mol } 1^{-1}$ Acetic acid

6.25 ml of redistilled glacial acetic acid was accurately measured using a pipette and transferred to a 1 litre volumetric flask. The solution was made up to volume with deionised water.

• 0.1 mol l⁻¹ Hydroxylammonium Chloride (~ pH 2)

13.893g of hydroxylammonium chloride were weighed and dissolved in approximately 1800 ml of deionised water. Nitric acid was added as required to bring the pH to approximately2. The solution was then made up to exactly 2 litres with deionised water.

• 8.8 mol l⁻¹ Hydrogen Peroxide

This was available as 30% stock solution. The solution, which is stored in a refrigerator, was allowed to come up to room temperature before it was used.

• 1 mol l⁻¹ Ammonium Acetate

77.08 g of ammonium acetate were weighed and dissolved in approximately 900 ml deionised water. The solution was adjusted to approximately pH 2 with nitric acid. The solution was made up to volume with deionised water in a 1 litre volumetric flask.

Note: The solutions were made up immediately prior to use.

(ii) Extraction procedure

Step one – The exchangeable fraction

Approximately 1g of each sample was accurately weighed into 100 ml polypropylene centrifuge bottles. It was decided that this was the best geometry to use for consistency in the experiment but in order to provide sufficient weight of samples for plutonium analysis, each sample had eight 1g sub-samples weighed into separate centrifuge bottles. Eight blank centrifuge bottles were included in the experiment. 40 ml acetic acid were added to each bottle and the bottles were shaken for 8 hours on an end-over-end mechanical shaker. The extracts were then separated from the residue by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes. The extracts were then filtered into bottles for extraction of plutonium. At this stage, all of the 8 sub-samples from each sample were filtered into the same bottle for plutonium extraction as a single sample.

Every effort was made not to lose any of the residues when separating the liquid extract but, particularly with the lighter materials like deciduous leaves, it was very difficult not to lose some. Different centrifuge speeds and times were tested in an attempt to reduce the amount of solid residue left floating on the liquid after centrifugation. Whilst improvements were noted, this feature would have to be addressed if the experiment was repeated.

Step two – Reducible fraction

40 ml hydroxylammonium chloride (pH 2) were added to the residue from step one in the

centrifuge bottles. The same shaking and separation of the extractant from the sample procedure was carried out, as in step one.

Step three – Oxidizeable

10 ml hydrogen peroxide were added to the residue from step 2 and the samples were allowed to stand for an hour at room temperature with an occasional manual agitation. The centrifuge bottles were then gradually heated in a water bath to 85°C, inside a fume cupboard, until the contents had reduced to approximately 1-2 ml. A second aliquot of hydrogen peroxide was added and allowed to evaporate in the same way. 50 ml ammonium acetate were added to the moist residue and shaken for 2 hours. The bottles were centrifuged and the extracts separated as described above (Arunachalam et al., 1996; Rauret et al., 2000).

(iii) Plutonium isolation from the sequential extracts

The extraction was carried out in approximately the same way as described above (section 2.3.2) with the only differences occurring towards the beginning of the procedure. No furnacing or centrifuging of the sample was required and many of the stages were carried out simply as a precaution and smaller volumes of reagent were used e.g. the hydrogen peroxide stage. A blank from each stage of the sequential extraction was included in the plutonium analysis. The samples were plated after the extraction and analysed using alpha spectrometry.

2.3.5 - Determination of Tritium (³H) in estuarine water samples by liquid scintillation counting

In liquid scintillation, the water sample was added to a scintillation 'cocktail' containing primary and secondary fluors (sometimes called scintillants), aromatic solvent and adjuvants (mainly surfactants). The emitted β particles from the sample transfer energy to the solvent present in the cocktail. The solvent then transfers energy to the scintillator causing promotion of electrons to excited levels followed by instantaneous de-excitation, which results in emission of light. This process is proportional, so the quantity of light emitted is proportional to the radiation energy (Packard, 1990).

The procedure in the GCSS laboratory is designed to quantify any ³H contamination above the natural levels in fresh water in central Scotland. To achieve this, correction for the ambient ³H level was achieved by including a deionised water 'reference' sample in the same preparation and analysis procedure as with the estuarine samples.

In order to prepare the samples for liquid scintillation counting, 100 ml of each water sample were measured into a labelled 250 ml round bottomed flask and several antibumping chips were added. 1 g of potassium permanganate was added to each flask to oxidise organic matter. The clean and dry distillation apparatus was assembled with another labelled 250 ml flask at the end of the system. The sample was distilled until near dryness under vacuum. The distillation unit heater was then switched off, the vacuum released and the system was left to cool.

The second flask, previously from the end of the system was then placed on the heating mantle with several anti-bumping chips added. The cleaned distillation apparatus was then reassembled but with a 150 ml round bottomed flask to end the system. The sample was then redistilled until near dryness. The second distillate was, in preparation for counting, mixed in a 1:1 ratio with the scintillation cocktail: 10 ml of sample were pipetted into a polythene vial with 10 ml of Pico-flour low-level tritium scintillation cocktail also being added. The lid of the vial was securely fastened and the vial was shaken vigorously.

The vials were then transferred to a Packard 1900TR liquid scintillation analyser and left to cool and dark adapt overnight. The next morning, once the samples were chilled, the analysis was started.

Efficiency

The efficiency of counting of samples by liquid scintillation may be reduced by a number of factors:

- Photon Quenching incomplete transfer of beta particle energy to solvent molecules.
- Chemical Quenching impurities in the prepared sample can cause energy loses in the transfer from solute to solvent.
- Optical Quenching causes the attenuation of photons produced in the solution.

The results of the energy losses are collectively referred to as Quenching. Because of these energy losses, quenching causes an apparent shift in the energy spectrum to the lower energy region, with a corresponding reduction in the counting efficiency. This effect can be corrected for by the preparation of a quench curve by plotting a Quench Indication Parameter (QIP) against the efficiency of detection of the selected radionuclide, in this case tritium. For the method used in the determination of tritium, the Transformed Spectral Index (tSIE) of the external standard spectrum, is calculated from the Compton spectrum produced in the sample by the external standard source (Ba-133), and is used as the QIP (Packard, 1990).

A quench curve was prepared by adding small amounts of nitromethane as quenching agent to known activities of tritiated water and scintillation cocktail. Each of these samples were counted for a known time and the instrument software calculated the efficiency of counting for each sample and prepared a quench curve under a pre-defined protocol which is then stored in the instruments memory (Appendix 2). Samples which are counted using this protocol are automatically corrected for any quench effects using this quench correction curve from the instruments memory.

Calculations

The quench corrected results are given in disintegrations per minute with a 95% confidence counting error. This result can be converted to Bq l^{-1} by: -

Bq $l^{-1} = (dpm/60) x (1000/volume used)$

Chapter 3 - Results

The soil pH and loss on ignition results for the Pollok Park soils can be found in Tables 5-10.

The gamma spectrometry results from the Pollok Park cores, including total ²¹⁰Pb, unsupported ²¹⁰Pb, estimated ²¹⁰Pb inventories, ¹³⁷Cs and ²²⁶Ra can be found in Tables **11-16**.

The Pollok park unfertilised grassland and fertilised hay field sites have been treated separately for comparison of ⁴⁰K specific activities only, as for every other nuclide they had very similar specific activities and therefore there was limited value in treating them separately. For every nuclide other than ⁴⁰K, the average of the two sites has been taken. The gamma spectrometry results obtained at the GCSS laboratory for bulk soil, street dust and grass are presented below in Tables **17-20**. Wherever possible, 1 σ errors have been included in the results Tables. Extended results from the analysis carried out at GCSS are in **Appendix 1**. This includes data for other nuclides not presented in the main body of the results. The individual values for the replicated samples taken at the Colston Laboratory in November 2000 and the Victoria Infirmary in April 2001 are shown below in Tables **21-23**. The results from the gamma spectrometry analysis carried out on the estuarine water are shown in Table **24**.

The alpha spectrometry plutonium analysis results are given in Tables **25-27** and the plutonium analysis results from the Pollok Park bulk soil samples are shown in Table **28**. The results from the BCR sequential extraction experiment are shown in Table **29** and the tritium results from analysis of the Clyde estuarine samples are shown in Table **30**.

3.1 - Loss on Ignition and pH

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Depth (cm)	% Loss on Ignition
0-1	38.57
1-2	24.88
2-3	17.28
3-4	14.61
4-5	11.67
5-6	10.95
6-7	9.59
7-8	7.83
8-9	8.06
9-10	7.28
10-11	7.16
11-12	7.23
12-13	6.93
13-14	6.11
14-15	5.92
15-16	5.92
16-17	5.79
17-18	5.29
18-19	5.78
19-20	5.55

Table 5 – Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park deciduous core (October 2000)

Depth (cm)	% Loss on Ignition
0-1	ND
1-2	57.47
2-3	51.92
3-4	53.87
4-5	57.85
5-7	35.35
7-8	25.94
8-9	27.26
9-10	21.41
10-11	18.77
11-12	22.65
12-13	15.65
13-14	14.24
14-15	12.26
15-16	11.62
16-17	10.68
17-18	10.12
18-19	9.98
19-20	9.42

ND = No data available, in this case due to lack of available sample.

Table 6 - Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park coniferous core (October 2000)

Note: The 1 cm increments from 5-6 cm and 6-7 cm from the coniferous soil core were accidentally mixed at an early stage in the sample preparation and so are treated as one 2 cm increment from 5-7 cm.

Depth (cm)	% Loss on Ignition
0-1	ND
1-2	ND
2-3	18.54
3-4	17.32
4-5	14.27
5-6	13.87
6-7	14.78
7-8	12.22
8-9	11.43
9-10	11.48
10-11	10.34
11-12	10.8
12-13	14.06
13-14	12.93
14-15	12.79
15-17	9.55

Table 7 - Loss on ignition data for Pollok Park Grassland core (October 2000)

Note: The grassland core was only taken to a depth of 17 cm to minimise damage to the sample area. The lack of data available for increments 0-1cm and 1-2 cm is due to there being a lack of available sample after the removal of the roots from the surface.

Depth (cm)	pH
0-1	3.55
1-2	3.67
2-3	3.64
3-4	3.62
4-5	3.60
5-6	3.51
6-7	3.68

Table 8 – pH	data for Pollo	k Park deciduous	s short core (J	une 2001)
--------------	----------------	------------------	-----------------	-----------

Deciduous Litter =	pH 3.52
Deciduous bulk 0-2 cm =	pH 3.77
Deciduous leaves =	pH 4.2

Depth (cm)	рН
0-1	3.57
1-2	3.42
2-3	3.36
3-4	3.30
4-5	3.42
5-6	3.29
6-7	3.30
7-8	3.32

 Table 9 - pH data for Pollok Park coniferous short core (June 2001)

Coniferous Bulk 0-2 cm = pH 3.4 Coniferous bulk 2-4 cm = pH 3.31

pН

Depth (cm)	pH
0-1	6.00
1-2	5.46
2-3	5.71
3-4	5.43
4-5	5.50
5-6	5.52
6-7	5.57

 Table 10 - pH data for Pollok Park grassland short core (June 2001)

Grass bulk 0-2cm = pH 5.83

3.2 - Gamma spectrometry results

Sample depth (cm)	Total ²¹⁰ Pb	¹³⁷ Cs	²⁴¹ Am	²²⁶ Ra
0-1	120 ± 4	387 ± 6	1.4 ± 0.4	26 ± 3
1-2	91 ± 4	281 ± 4	2.4 ± 0.4	26 ± 3
2-3	53 ± 6	125 ± 4	1.9 ± 0.0	27 ± 4
3-4	39± 5	70 ± 4	BDL	23 ± 4
4-5	34 ± 6	36 ± 3	BDL	23 ± 4
5-6	27 ± 4	14 ± 2	BDL	22 ± 3
6-7	27 ± 3	11 ± 1	BDL	23 ± 2
7-8	29 ± 3	BDL	BDL	24 ± 2
8-9	33 ± 4	BDL	BDL	27 ± 3
9-10	31 ± 4	BDL	BDL	26 ± 3
10-11	26 ± 3	BDL	BDL	26 ± 2
11-12	25 ± 3	BDL	BDL	29 ± 3
12-13	32 ± 4	BDL	BDL	33 ± 3
13-14	30±4	BDL	BDL	32 ± 3
14-15	22 ± 4	BDL	BDL	32 ± 4
15-16	34 ± 7	BDL	BDL	31 ± 6
16-17	21 ± 3	BDL	BDL	27 ± 5
17-18	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL
18-19	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL
19-20	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL

 Table 11 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)
Sample depth (cm)	Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bq kg ⁻¹)	ln unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb	Total dry weight of section (g)
0-1	95 ± 5	4.6 ± 0.6	48.50
1-2	65 ± 5	4.2 ± 0.1	53.08
2-3	26 ± 7	3.3 ± 0.3	58.80
3-4	16±6	2.8 ± 0.5	59.95
4-5	10 ± 6	2.3 ± 0.7	62.18
5-6	BDL	BDL	63.62
6-7	BDL	BDL	63.65
7-8	BDL	BDL	64.32
8-9	BDL	BDL	65.35
9-10	BDL	BDL	65.41
10-11	BDL	BDL	65.51
11-12	BDL	BDL	66.53
12-13	BDL	BDL	65.69
13-14	BDL	BDL	65.95
14-15	BDL	BDL	67.24
15-16	BDL	BDL	66.04
16-17	BDL	BDL	66.58
17-18	BDL	BDL	67.08
18-19	BDL	BDL	67.15
19-20	BDL	BDL	66.15

Table 12 - Unsupported ²¹⁰Pb (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)

The inventory (in Bq cm^{-2}) is the sum of the activities for each section divided by the area of the core in cm^2 (10 x 10 cm²). This is then multiplied by 10 000 to give the result in Bq m⁻². Inventory = 1116.75 Bq m⁻² Deciduous ²¹⁰Pb Inventory = 1117 Bq m⁻² Flux = (ln 2/half life ²¹⁰Pb) x Inventory : Flux = 0.0301 x 1117 = 33.6

Deciduous ²¹⁰Pb Flux = 34 Bq m⁻² y⁻¹

Sample depth (cm)	Total ²¹⁰ Pb	¹³⁷ Cs	²⁴¹ Am	²²⁶ Ra
0-1	232 ± 5	111 ± 3	BDL	6 ± 2
1-2	133 ± 5	347 ± 6	2 ± 0.5	22 ± 4
2-3	182 ± 7	367 ± 6	BDL	17 ± 5
3-4	138±4	243 ± 4	3 ± 0.4	21 ± 3
4-5	131 ± 5	62 ± 1	2 ± 0.5	18 ± 3
5-7	65 ± 4	108 ± 3	BDL	24 ± 4
7-8	52 ± 4	70 ± 3	BDL	28 ± 5
8-9	56 ± 4	BDL	BDL	26 ± 4
9-10	47 ± 3	49 ± 2	BDL	27 ± 4
10-11	30 ± 6	36±0.5	BDL	26 ± 5
11-12	33 ± 4	53 ± 2	BDL	24 ± 3
12-13	36 ± 5	31 ± 3	BDL	26 ± 6
13-14	35 ± 5	33 ± 3	BDL	28 ± 5
14-15	29 ± 7	21 ± 3	BDL	27 ± 5
15-16	38±7	BDL	BDL	51 ± 11
16-17	34 ± 7	BDL	BDL	38 ± 7
17-18	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL
18-19	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL
19-20	BDL	BDL	BDL	BDL

 19-20
 DDD
 DDD
 DDD

 Table 13 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park coniferous forest soil core (October 2000)

Sample depth (cm)	Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bqkg ⁻¹)	ln excess ²¹⁰ Pb (Bqkg ⁻¹)	Total dry weight of section (g)
0-1	220 ± 6	5.4 ± 0.03	39.08
1-2	107 ± 6	4.7 ± 0.05	44.14
2-3	163 ± 8	5.1 ± 0.06	46.90
3-4	114 ± 5	4.7 ± 0.05	46.09
4-5	116±6	4.8 ± 0.08	44.76
5-7	40 ± 6	3.7 ± 0.15	101.9
7-8	24±7	3.2 ± 0.30	53.77
8-9	30 ± 6	3.4 ± 0.21	55.18
9-10	21 ± 5	3.0 ± 0.26	58.31
10-11	BDL	BDL	58.40
11-12	BDL	BDL	56.45
12-13	BDL	BDL	59.53
13-14	BDL	BDL	61.28
14-15	BDL	BDL	61.24
15-16	BDL	BDL	62.03
16-17	BDL	BDL	62.08
17-18	BDL	BDL	61.63
18-19	BDL	BDL	63.01
19-20	BDL	BDL	64.09
	010		

 Table 14 – Unsupported ²¹⁰Pb (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park coniferous forest soil core (October 2000)

(Area of core = $10 \times 10 \text{ cm}$)

Coniferous ²¹⁰Pb Inventory = 3966 Bq m⁻² Flux = (ln 2/halflife ²¹⁰Pb) x Inventory Flux = $0.0301 \times 3966 = 119.4$

Coniferous ²¹⁰Pb Flux = 119 Bq m⁻² y⁻¹

Sample depth (cm)	Total ²¹⁰ Pb	¹³⁷ Cs	²⁴¹ Am	²²⁶ Ra
0-1	92 ± 11	28 ± 5	BDL	ND
1-2	83 ± 4	81 ± 2	BDL	39 ± 3
2-3	56 ± 4	84 ± 3	BDL	37 ± 3
3-4	54 ± 3	85 ± 3	BDL	36 ± 3
4-5	53 ± 4	86 ± 3	BDL	35 ± 3
5-6	51 ± 4	99 ± 3	BDL	42 ± 3
6-7	62 ± 5	83 ± 3	BDL	37 ± 4
7-8	52 ± 5	72 ± 3	BDL	36 ± 3
8-9	48 ± 4	53 ± 3	BDL	37 ± 3
9-10	40 ± 6	43 ± 2	BDL	41±3
10-11	48 ± 6	29 ± 2	BDL	43 ± 3
11-12	45 ± 5	25 ± 3	BDL	41 ± 4
12-13	47 ± 4	18 ± 2	BDL	39 ± 3
13-14	43 ± 5	18 ± 2	BDL	44 ± 4
14-15	37 ± 7	14 ± 3	BDL	44 ± 6
15-17	30 ± 5	BDL	BDL	47 ± 5

 Table 15 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park grassland soil core (October 2000)

Sample depth (cm)	Unsupported ²¹⁰ Pb (Bqkg ⁻¹)	ln excess ²¹⁰ Pb (Bqkg ⁻¹)	Total dry weight of section (g)
0-1	92 ± 11	4.5 ± 0.13	67.69
1-2	44 ± 5	3.8 ± 0.11	42.75
2-3	19±5	3.0 ± 0.27	91.00
3-4	18 ± 4	2.9 ± 0.26	53.83
4-5	18 ± 5	2.9 ± 0.29	54.59
5-6	9±5	2.2 ± 0.68	54.89
6-7	25 ± 7	3.2 ± 0.28	59.06
7-8	17 ± 6	2.8 ± 0.38	68.88
8-9	12±5	2.4 ± 0.50	67.00
9-10	BDL	BDL	65.33
10-11	BDL	BDL	93.80
11-12	BDL	BDL	70.02
12-13	BDL	BDL	117.98
13-14	BDL	BDL	117.08
14-15	BDL	BDL	71.99
15-17	BDL	BDL	88.72

Table 16 – Unsupported ²¹⁰Pb (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park grassland soil core (October 2000)

(Area of core = $10 \times 10 \text{ cm}$)

Grassland ²¹⁰Pb Inventory = 1573 Bq m⁻²

Flux = $(\ln 2/\text{halflife}^{210}\text{Pb})$ x Inventory Flux = $0.0301 \times 1573 = 47.4$

Grassland ²¹⁰Pb Flux = 47 Bq m⁻² y⁻¹

Sample site	Street dust July 2000	Street dust November 2000	Street dust April 2001	Grass July 2000	Grass November 2000	Grass April 2001	Soil July 2000	Soil November 2000	Soil April 2001
1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western)	27.3 ± 3.2	14.0±1.9	46.7 ± 3.1	5.3 ± 2.3	22.5 ± 2.5	17.4 ± 1.7	58.8± 3.5	38.5 ± 2.4	30.3 ± 1.3
2 (Gartnavel Hosp)	25.7 ± 2.7	3.9 ± 1.7	7.5 ± 1.9	<4.1	1.2 ± 0.4	2.6 ± 0.6	26.3 ± 1.7	34.3 ± 2.1	46.3 ± 1.9
3 (Strathclyde/ Royal)	11.4 ± 1.7	BDL	2.1 ± 0.9	<4.05	6.6 ± 2.4	1.7 ± 0.7	19.1 ± 1.3	30.7 ± 1.9	22.1± 0.9
4 (Victoria Inf)	63.4 ± 6.0	48.5 ± 3.9	16.7 ± 2.9	<2.7	11.7±2.5	3.9 ± 0.8	56.9 ± 3.4	64.9 ± 4.3	65.4 ± 2.5
5 (Southern General Hosp)	205 ± 13	6.9 ± 2.0	31.7 ± 2.4	<3.2	15.8±2.2	<1.4	17.9 ± 1.2	32.3 ± 2.0	85.1± 3.1
6 (Pollok Park)	DN	24.8 ± 2.7	QN	QN	BDL	DN	DN	38.2 ± 2.4	Q
7 (Colston Laboratory)	23.4 ± 2.6	211 ± 12	29.6 ± 2.6	5.0 ± 0.9	3.5 ± 1.4	7.4 ± 1.3	22.4± 1.2	34.8±2.2	2.4 ± 0.5
8 (Summerston)	QN	5.7 ± 1.3	4.2 ± 1.1	QN	BDL	5.1 ± 1.4	QN	32.1 ± 2.0	38.4± 1.5
9 (Robroyston)	Q	5.7 ± 2.3	2.3 ± 0.47	QN	BDL	2.6 ± 1.2	QN	4.3 ± 0.4	5.8± 0.5
Table 17 - ¹³⁷ Cs (Bqavailable, BDL = belor	kg ⁻¹) measure w detection limi	d in street dust t	, grass (dry we	ight) and bul	k soil in July 2	000, Novembei	r 2000 and A	pril 2001. ND =	= No data

Sample site	Street dust July 2000	Street dust November 2000	Street dust April 2001	Grass July 2000	Grass November 2000	Grass April 2001	Soil July 2000	Soil November 2000	Soil April 2001
1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western)	668 ± 60	933 ± 69	337 ± 40	1605 ± 124	1060 ± 76	574 ± 46	365 ± 24	364 ± 25	295 ± 14
2 (Gartnavel Hosp)	1000 ± 75	575 ± 55	189 ± 32	1130± 110	197 ± 17	313 ± 24	369 ± 2 4	286 ± 19	262 ± 16
3 (Strathclyde/ Royal)	891 ± 66	552 ± 52	295 ± 31	2115± 155	674 ± 83	336 ± 30	335 ± 22	343 ± 22	374 ± 18
4 (Victoria Inf)	760 ± 83	526 ± 48	649 ± 72	1370 ± 98	1480 ± 120	470 ± 34	355 ± 23	225 ± 18	253 ± 13
5 (Southern General Hosp)	820 ± 60	363 ± 57	369 ± 39	853 ± 68	1160 ± 86	252 ± 29	384 ± 25	345 ± 2 4	327 ± 16
6a (Pollok- Unfertilised)	DN	279 ± 47	ND	DN	BDL	QN	QN	257 ± 19	ND
6b (Pollok- fertilised)	QN	652 ± 54	QN	QN	1910± 150	Q	QN	255 ± 18	Ŋ
7 (Colston Laboratory)	600±55	364 ± 53	299 ± 39	507 ± 31	616±42	553 ± 52	267 ± 18	275 ±19	238 ± 14
8 (Summerston)	DN	494 ± 43	261 ± 34	QN	710 ± 40	710 ± 54	QN	318 ± 21	300 ± 15
9 (Robroyston)	DN	286±66	786 ± 45	DN	664 ± 61	497 ± 46	ND	413 ± 27	479 ± 23
able 18 - ⁴⁰ K (Bq kg ⁻¹) m	easured in stree	t dust, grass (di	ry weight) and	bulk soil in Jı	ıly 2000, Noven	nber 2000 and	l April 2001.		

Sample site	Street dust	Street dust	Street dust	Grass	Grass	Grass	Soil	Soil	Soil
	July 2000	November	April	July	November	April	July	November	April
		2000	2001	2000	2000	2001	2000	2000	2001
1 (Glasgow I Ini/	211 + 20	120+18	83 + 10					BDL	BDL
Western)	/7 - 117	01 - /71		132 ± 30	183 ± 37	195 ± 23	⊲3.7		
) (Goutanial Unam)	30 + 701	742 ± 27	BDL					BDL	BDL
	C7 I 171	16 - 2+1		61 ± 36	46 ± 12	151 ± 14	<5.7		
2 (Comoth alinda/ David)	164 101		11 - 12					BDL	BDL
o (Juanciyue Kuyai)	104 I 71	/U	4/ I 12	163 ± 51	173 ± 69	83 ± 11	< 5.6		
A (Wintowin Inf)	52 7 70	UV T UZ	71 T LS					BDL	BDL
	07 T CC	04 - 00	01 7 / 0	58 ± 21	213 ± 54	144 ± 16	<5.7		
5 (Southern General	00 + 70	137 + 56	36 + 035					BDL	BDL
Hosp)) 	00		89 ± 25	265 ± 48	190 ± 18	<4.6		
6 (Pollok Park)	QN	236 ± 26	ŊŊ	QN	240 ± 49	QN	QN	BDL	Q
7 (Colston Laboratory)	505 + <u>4</u> 0	191 + 29	100 + 71					BDL	BDL
			17 - 111	54 ± 9	314 ± 32	530 ± 41	<3.1		-
8 (Summerston)	Ð	135 ± 15	45 ± 9	QN	148 ± 13	362 ± 30	ŊŊ	BDL	BDL
9 (Robroyston)	QN	124 ± 21	135 ± 17	QN	332 ± 34	496 ± 36	Ð	BDL	BDL
Table 19 - ⁷ Be (Bq 2001.	¢g ⁻¹) measure	d in street d	ust, grass (d	ry weight) :	and bulk soi	l in July 20	00, Novi	ember 2000	and April

	2001	000 and April 2	in November 2	c soil measured	, grass and bulk	¹) in street dust	Table 20 – ²²⁶ Ra (Bq kg
2.2	37.3 ± :	23.5 ± 1.8	BDL	9.4 ± 3.2	8.3 ± 1.3	5.7 ± 2.2	9 (Robroyston)
1.3	20.9±	21.5 ± 1.6	BDL	5.2 ± 1.4	5.0 ±1.1	19.8 ± 2.8	8 (Summerston)
1.0	11.9±	17.6 ± 1.3	BDL	5.8±2.6	7.8±2.9	11.4 ± 2.8	7 (Colston Laboratory)
	QN	27.4 ± 2.1	ND	BDL	DN	14.3 ± 3.3	6 (Pollok Park)
1.8	44.4 ±	33.8 ± 2.5	BDL	17.1 ± 3.0	11.6 ± 3.1	21.8 ± 3.6	5 (Southern General Hosp)
1.7	28.8±	30.5 ± 2.4	1.5 ± 0.1	17.5 ± 4.0	3.8 ± 0.7	22.2 ± 3.3	4 (Victoria Inf)
2.3	17.4±	22.3 ± 1.6	BDL	BDL	3.8 ± 1.1	16.8 ± 3.3	3 (Strathclyde/ Royal)
1.4	19.5 ±	23.9 ± 1.8	BDL	2.0 ± 0.7	15.1 ± 3.3	18.4 ± 3.6	2 (Gartnavel Hosp)
1.3	20.6±	29.6 ± 4.4	BDL	17.4 ± 2.9	4.6 ± 1.5	15.5 ± 2.8	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western)
	2001 Ap	Sou November 2000	UTASS APTII 2001	Urass November 2000	April 2001	Street dust November 2000	Sample site
1.1	Coil An	Soil	C-mage Amil	Grade	Ctrant duct	Ctract duct	Comulo cito

Sample site &	Date of collection	S)/CI	⁴⁰ K	'Be	²²⁰ Ra	
replicate number						
Colston –1	17/11/2000	144 ± 6.8	631 ± 50	150±20	24 ± 3.6	
Colston – 2	17/11/2000	255 ± 16	238 ± 47	BDL	7 ± 1.7	
Colston – 3	17/11/2000	271 ± 17	295 ± 65	223 ± 37	6±1.9	
Colston – 4	17/11/2000	176 ± 12	294 ± 49	213 ± 34	10 ± 4.2	
Victoria Inf. – 1	10/04/2001	19±2.4	135 ± 32	109 ± 21	BDL	
Victoria Inf. – 2	10/04/2001	18 ± 3.5	1300 ± 110	62 ± 28	BDL	
Victoria Inf. – 3	10/04/2001	14 ± 2.8	514 ± 74	BDL	11 ± 4.0	
Table 21 – Radionu	clide specific activitie	s (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replicat	e street dust samples	from Colston, Nover	nber 2000 and the	

Victoria Infirmary, April 2001.

Sample site &	Date of collection	¹³⁷ Cs	⁴⁰ K	⁷ Be	²²⁶ Ra
replicate number					
Colston –1	17/11/2000	BDL	1610 ± 14	361 ± 44	10.4 ± 5
Colston – 2	17/11/2000	3.3 ± 0.5	169 ± 15	40±6	2.1 ± 0.8
Colston – 3	17/11/2000	2.2 ± 0.8	578 ± 43	335 ± 27	5.8 ± 1.4
Colston – 4	17/11/2000	8.5 ± 2.8	106 ± 97	523 ± 49	5.2 ± 2.5
Victoria Inf. – 1	10/04/2001	4.3 ± 0.5	313 ± 19	111 ± 9.2	BDL
Victoria Inf. – 2	10/04/2001	5.5 ± 1.5	435 ± 47	223 ± 26	BDL
Victoria Inf. – 3	10/04/2001	1.8 ± 0.5	663 ± 35	<u>99 ± 12</u>	4.2 ± 0.9
Table 22 – Radionu	clide specific activitie	ss (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replica	te grass samples from	I Colston, November	2000 and the

Victoria Infirmary, April 2001.

Sample site &	Date of collection	s),cr	N ^{u+}	Be	²²⁰ Ra	
replicate number						
Colston –1	17/11/2000	49 ± 3.0	312 ± 22	BDL	23 ± 1.8	_
Colston –2	17/11/2000	29 ± 1.8	259 ± 17	BDL	16 ± 1.3	_
Colston –3	17/11/2000	26 ± 1.7	253 ± 18	BDL	13 ± 1.1	
Victoria Inf. – 1	10/04/2001	73 ± 2.7	256 ± 13	BDL	29 ± 1.6	
Victoria Inf. – 2	10/04/2001	57 ± 2.2	250 ± 13	BDL	29 ± 1.7	
Table 23 – Radionu	clide specific activitie	ss (Bq kg ⁻¹) in replica	te soil samples from	Colston, November 20	00 and the	

A 1
Ĕ
Ŧ
q
5
~
8
3
2
L.
ě
ť
5
2
Ó
Z
_
E
¥
S
<u>, </u>
U
n
10
Ë.
S
5
ŝ
6
8
e
ā
. <u>.</u>
Ö.
eb
rep
in rep
) in rep
⁻¹) in rep
(g ⁻¹) in rep
kg ⁻¹) in rep
sq kg ⁻¹) in rep
(Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
s (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
ies (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
ities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
vities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
tivities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
c activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
iic activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
tific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
ecific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
pecific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
le specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
lide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
clide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
uclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
onuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
lionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
idionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
kadionuclide specific activities (Bq kg⁻¹) in rep
Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
- Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
3 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
23 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
le 23 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
ble 23 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep
able 23 – Radionuclide specific activities (Bq kg ⁻¹) in rep.

Victoria Infirmary, April 2001.

Data was unavailable for Colston replicate number 4 and Victoria Infirmary replicate numbers 3 and 4.

Gamma spectrometry results for Clyde Estuary water

Date sample	⁴⁰ K	¹³¹ I
collected		
March 2001	5.36 ± 0.40	BDL
May 2001	10.0 ± 0.66	0.041 ± 0.033

Table 24 - Specific activity of 40 K and 131 I (Bq Γ^1) in Clyde estuary water

All other radionuclides were below the detection limit.

3.3 - Alpha spectrometry- plutonium results

Sample depth (cm)	^{239,240} Pu	²³⁸ Pu	²³⁸ Pu / ^{239,240} Pu activity ratio
0-1	3.63 ± 0.19	0.083 ± 0.011	0.023 ± 0.0033
1-2	2.51 ± 0.13	0.088 ± 0.011	0.035 ± 0.0047
2-3	1.42 ± 0.06	0.023 ± 0.003	0.016 ± 0.0022
3-4	0.77 ± 0.04	0.025 ± 0.004	0.033 ± 0.0056
4-5	0.034 ± 0.02	0.005 ± 0.003	0.014 ± 0.0118
5-6	0.23 ± 0.01	0.010 ± 0.001	0.042 ± 0.0046
6-7	0.24 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.003	0.040 ± 0.0124
7-8	0.08 ± 0.02	BDL	-
8-9	Not tested	Not tested	-
9-10	0.11 ± 0.01	BDL	-

Table 25 - ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park deciduous forest soil core (October 2000)

Sample depth (cm)	^{239,240} Pu	²³⁸ Pu	²³⁸ Pu / ^{239,240} Pu activity ratio
0-1	0.42 ± 0.05	0.016 ± 0.014	0.039 ± 0.0344
1-2	1.71 ± 0.11	0.057 ± 0.012	0.033 ± 0.0073
2-3	3.64 ± 0.21	0.11 ± 0.014	0.030 ± 0.0042
3-4	3.44 ± 0.20	0.138 ± 0.018	0.040 ± 0.0057
4-5	3.83 ± 0.19	0.142 ± 0.017	0.037 ± 0.0048
5-7	2.40 ± 0.13	0.045 ± 0.007	0.019 ± 0.0031
7-8	1.04 ± 0.06	0.036 ± 0.007	0.035 ± 0.0071

Table 26 $-$ ^{239,240} Pu and ²³⁸ Pu (Bq kg	¹) for the Pollok Park	coniferous forest soil core
(October 2000)		

Sample depth (cm)	^{239,240} Pu	²³⁸ Pu	²³⁸ Pu / ^{239,240} Pu activity ratio
0-2	Not tested	Not tested	-
2-3	0.40 ± 0.03	0.019 ± 0.005	0.049 ± 0.0389
3-4	0.39 ± 0.02	0.010 ± 0.004	0.027 ± 0.0109
4-5	0.42 ± 0.04	0.024 ± 0.008	0.059 ± 0.0205
5-6	0.88 ± 0.12	0.082 ± 0.025	0.092 ± 0.0307
6-7	0.41 ± 0.02	0.010 ± 0.004	0.025 ± 0.0100
7-8	0.044 ± 0.03	0.013 ± 0.004	0.030 ± 0.0224

Table 27 – ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park grassland soil core (October 2000)

Sample depth (cm)	^{239,240} Pu	²³⁸ Pu	²³⁸ Pu / ^{239,240} Pu activity ratio
Dec 0-2 cm	2.14 ± 0.12	0.128 ± 0.018	0.060 ± 0.0091
Con 0-2 cm	5.03 ± 0.34	0.290 ± 0.039	0.058 ± 0.0087
Con 2-4 cm	3.39 ± 0.19	0.068 ± 0.012	0.020 ± 0.0037
Grass 0-2 cm	BDL	BDL	-

 Table 28 - ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park bulk soil samples (June 2001)

3.4 - BCR sequential extraction results

No plutonium was found in the extracts from stages one and two or in the blanks. The coniferous bulk samples were the only samples to have values greater than the detection limit as shown in Table 29.

Sample depth (cm)	^{239,240} Pu	²³⁸ Pu	²³⁸ Pu / ^{239,240} Pu activity ratio
Con 0-2 stage 3	0.046 ± 0.002	0.0019 ± 0.0004	0.040 ± 0.0086
Con 2-4 stage 3	0.020 ± 0.002	0.0011 ± 0.0006	0.054 ± 0.0299

Table 29 - ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu (Bq kg⁻¹) for the Pollok Park bulk soil sample sequential extracts (June 2001)

3.5 - Liquid scintillation counting results

Each sample and each deionised water 'reference sample' was counted 10 times in 100minute cycles. Disintegrations per minute were reported for each cycle and an average was calculated for each sample. The estuarine samples were corrected by subtracting the average disintegrations per minute value from the reference sample and then the results were converted to Bq Γ^1 . The limit of detection above the ambient ³H level found in the deionised water is defined as the 3 σ error value on the background counts (the reference sample counts per minute value). 1 σ error of the background is determined by:

 $1\sigma = \sqrt{\text{Total counts for 1000 minute count}}$ (This is 10 x 100 minute count)

This 1σ value is multiplied by 3, to gain a 3σ value. This is then converted back to counts per minute by dividing the 3σ value by 1000. This value is then converted to Bq, using the experimentally pre-determined counting efficiency of 23.1% and, as this was for a 10 ml sample, the value is then converted to Bq Γ^1 .

	³ H (Bq l ⁻¹)			
	October 2000	December 2000	March 2001	
Dalmarnock Bridge	<3.4	<3.4	<3.4	
Kings Bridge	<3.4	<3.4	<3.4	
SECC	<3.4	<3.4	<3.4	
Balmoral Street	<3.4	<3.4	<3.4	
Renfrew Ferry	<3.4	<3.4	<3.4	

Table 30 - ³H values in Clyde estuarine water

As can be seen from table 30, after background correction, all results were below the limit of detection of $3.4 \text{ Bq } \text{I}^{-1}$. There are techniques, such as electrolytic enrichment, in which the sensitivity of ³H detection could be increased (Neary, 1997). This however was out-with the scope of this one-year project.

Chapter 4- Discussion

In the following discussion of the results, rather than exhaustively apply every interpretative approach to every nuclide, different techniques have been applied selectively to individual nuclides to illustrate the type of interpretation that is possible.

Gamma spectrometry analysis

⁴⁰K

A convenient way to define and display the spatial variability in a data set of environmental measurements is to represent them on a map. To interpolate data accurately onto a grid would, however, require a much higher spatial resolution of sampling points than was possible in the present work. By not extrapolating the results to other areas but by simply putting the findings into a geographical context, the results can still be depicted usefully as illustrated in Figures 10-12. These maps allow an instantly appreciable and accessible presentation of the results and the differences in specific activities between soil, street dust and grass can be seen, as well as short-term temporal variations for a given sample site. It can be seen from these illustrations that the variability of ⁴⁰K activities in the three matrix types generally decreases in the order grass > street dust > soil. ⁴⁰K was chosen to exemplify this as it gives a good indication of the variability of a natural radionuclide, which is a major contributor to the background radiation exposure of humans. As can be seen from the maps (Figures 10-12), there is considerable variation both spatially and over time in the three environmental media. Not only would this create considerable variation in the dose received from ⁴⁰K, it highlights the difficulty in defining an 'average' dose.

⁴⁰K activities in the environment vary not only with bedrock, and therefore soil type, but also with environmental management practices such as the application of fertiliser.

The ⁴⁰K specific activity in grass exhibits a variability that could be attributed to a number



Figure 10. Map of ⁴⁰K distribution in soil (Bq kg⁻¹)





Figure 12. Map of ⁴⁰K distribution in grass (Bq kg⁻¹)

of factors (Figure 13). For Glasgow University, Gartnaval Hospital and Strathclyde University, the highest results were obtained in July, which may be after the application of fertiliser and is during a high growth rate period. The degree of management at each site will vary, thus introducing further variation into the ⁴⁰K results. Potassium is a major element found in plants and is required for many of their vital functions. If potassium is present in soil at high enough levels, grass will continue to take up potassium, beyond the requirements of the plant (De Boer, 1999). This is known as "luxury uptake" and may be responsible for some of the variability in the K content of the grass. The measured ⁴⁰K specific activities of the grass were generally lowest in April. This may reflect a slight decrease in soil ⁴⁰K over the winter due to leaching of the available potassium (Figure 14), or be caused by slower growth rates, and therefore slower potassium uptake than in July. It may also be possible that, at sites that receive environmental management, fertiliser may not yet have been applied for the year. The measurements taken at the Colston Laboratory, Summerston and Robroyston are all very similar, both spatially and over the three (or two) sampling times. Therefore, although some of the grass results display considerable variation, this is not the case for all the sites.

The ⁴⁰K measured in street dust is generally highest in July 2000 (Figure 15) with the exceptions of Glasgow University and Robroyston sampling sites, where maximum values were observed in November 2000 and April 2001 respectively. This could also be possibly caused by the application of fertiliser to land prior to the sampling in July 2000. The specific activities of ⁴⁰K in street dust are generally slightly higher than in soil. A study by Narayana et al (1995) found that the highest ⁴⁰K activities were in the 125-250 µm fraction of soil (see section 1.3.4) and it is feasible that the street dust may be made up of wind blow, or otherwise, fine grained soil.



Figure - $13 - {}^{40}$ K in measured in grass (Bq kg⁻¹) in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001



Figure - $14 - {}^{40}$ K in measured in soil (Bq kg⁻¹) in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001



Figure - $15 - {}^{40}$ K in measured in street dust (Bq kg⁻¹) in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001

As can be observed in Figure 14, the variability in the soil is less than that of the other two matrices indicating it is a more homogeneous medium. The comparison of the fertilised grassland and un-fertilised grassland from Pollok Park shows that the two soil samples have very similar ⁴⁰K specific activities. The fertilised grass sample however, has a ⁴⁰K specific activity of 1910 Bq kg⁻¹ whilst the unfertilised grass has a ⁴⁰K specific activity below the limit of detection. This pattern is repeated to some extent in the street dust samples, with a decrease from 652 Bq kg⁻¹ to 279 Bq kg⁻¹ in the fertilised and unfertilised samples, respectively. This highlights a pattern which can almost certainly be attributed to environmental management.

The relationship between the ⁴⁰K specific activities of the sample types can be explored further by looking at transfer factors (Green et al., 1995). The transfer factor of ⁴⁰K from soil to grass can give an indication of the variation in grass ⁴⁰K uptake from site to site and quantify the level of influence the soil ⁴⁰K has on the grass ⁴⁰K activities. The transfer factors were calculated as follows:

Transfer factor = $\frac{{}^{40}K}{{}^{40}K}$ specific activity in grass

Sample location	Soil to grass transfer factor		
	July 2000	Nov 2000	April 2001
1 (Glasgow University / Western Infirmary)	4.4	2.9	1.9
2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	3.1	0.7	1.2
3 (Strathclyde University/ Royal Infirmary	6.3	2.0	0.9
4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3.9	6.6	1.9
5 (Southern General Hospital)	2.2	3.4	0.8
6a (Pollok Park, un-fertilised)	-	-	-
6b (Pollok Park, fertilised)	-	7.5	-
7 (Colston Laboratory)	1.9	2.2	2.3
8 (Summerston)	-	2.2	2.4
9 (Robroyston)	-	1.6	1.0

Table 31 - Soil to grass ⁴⁰K transfer factors

If the ratio is greater than one, for example as at the Strathclyde University/ Western Infirmary site in July and November 2000, it indicates preferential uptake of potassium by the grass relative to the soil. If the ratio is less than one, for example as at the Southern General Hospital in April 2001, it indicates preferential retention of the potassium in the soil. Although there is considerable variation between the transfer factors observed at different sampling times at some of the sites, tentative inferences about the influence of environmental management may be drawn. From communication with park rangers at Pollok Park, is known that surface application of fertilisers is carried out in some areas of the park. As can be seen from Table 31, the soil to grass transfer factor is highest for the Pollok Park fertilised site indicating that the grass receives, or takes up, higher levels of potassium relative to the soil. This would suggest that the fertiliser is applied in a soluble form and is removed from the soil in solution with no significant long term soil retention occurring. The two lowest ratios occur at Gartnaval Hospital and the Southern General Hospital where samples were taken in areas unlikely to receive any application of fertilisers. Therefore fixed potassium in the soil (rather than potassium in a soluble, plant available form) is likely to have had a more dominant effect over the soil to grass transfer ratio. However, there is considerable variation in the transfer factors and more samples would be required to assess if the variability seen in these factors is related to the size of the data set, or if this parameter is inherently subject to large variation.

Another approach that could be taken when considering transfer factors is to calculate the aggregated transfer factor (TAG), which uses the inventory of a radionuclide in the soil rather than simply using the specific activity (Amundsen et al., 1996). Using the inventory like this avoids complications introduced by variations in dry bulk density between different soil types. The TAG is calculated as follows:

This may be a useful approach to take in any future sampling to eliminate the variability caused by sampling of different soil types.

Up to this point, this discussion has focussed on interpreting the experimental results gained for the chosen sample sites. If inferences drawn from these results were going to be applied to other areas of the city, an understanding of the data population would help define the likely range of results that would be expected. A useful method for gaining more understanding of the data population and a good way for presenting environmental data, is to plot a histogram of the results. These data are presented below in Figures 16 and 17.



Figure 16 – ⁴⁰K (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass- Distribution of results

The data for grass suggest a spread of results around a modal value in the range 600- 700 Bq kg⁻¹ of ⁴⁰K. This could possibly be taken to represent the 'natural' variation in ⁴⁰K plus a 'tail' at the higher end of the scale, which could reasonably be taken to represent the effects of fertiliser application. The five samples which make up this 'tail' are: Glasgow University/ Western Infirmary in July 2000; Strathclyde University/ Royal Infirmary in July 2000; the Victoria Infirmary in both July 2000 and November 2000 and Pollok park (fertilised site) in November 2000. These are all sites that receive some degree of environmental management.

This observed variability may to some degree, however, reflect the grass sampling times with the higher values representing periods of maximum growth, whilst the lower values may represent periods of plant senescence.



Figure 17 - ⁴⁰K (Bq kg⁻¹) in soil- Distribution of results

The data set for soil, displayed in figure 17, is close to a normal distribution. The range in results for the soil samples is much smaller than for the grass and the street dust, reflecting a higher level of homogeneity of the soil than in the two other sample types.

With the limited data set available here, a rigorous statistical interpretation would be of limited value. However, summary statistics were derived using Microsoft Excel to illustrate the type of information that can be derived from such data. The ⁴⁰K summary statistics are shown in Table 32.

	⁴⁰ K Grass	⁴⁰ K Soil	⁴⁰ K Street Dust
Mean	859 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	323 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	551 (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Standard deviation	532 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	62 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	236 (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Minimum	197 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	225 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	189 (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Maximum	2115 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	479 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	$1000 (Bq kg^{-1})$
No: of observations	23	23	23

 Table 32 – ⁴⁰K data population summary statistics

Firstly, the mean gives an indication of the ⁴⁰K specific activities that were found in each matrix. This shows that the specific activities in the three data populations decrease from

grass, the highest, to street dust and soil, respectively. The standard deviation describes the variation in the measurement. The grass population exhibited the largest standard deviation unlike the soil, which had the smallest standard deviation.

The ⁴⁰K specific activity range found for street dust is larger than that for soil. This could be attributed to the large variation in grain size of the street dust samples and its origin from a number of different sources. For example, the street dust from sites close to roads with a heavy traffic load, such as the Victoria Infirmary samples, will be largely made of abraded road making materials and dust from the traffic. In contrast, at sites like Pollok Park, the street dust will be largely made up of soil.

¹³⁷Cs

The variability in specific activities and distribution of 137 Cs, an anthropogenic radionuclide, provided an opportunity to analyse the distribution of this environmental contaminant. As previously stated, the sources of 137 Cs to the environment include fallout from atmospheric nuclear weapons tests and the Chernobyl reactor accident.

The collection of such a data set, whilst not extensive enough to provide a comprehensive baseline, can define a range with which any future enhancement could be compared. The ¹³⁷Cs specific activities in grass were generally very low (Figure 18) and show a broadly exponential distribution (Figure 19). Uptake, and subsequent release, of ¹³⁷Cs by soil could represent a fairly long-term source to the grass if the ¹³⁷Cs in the soil was not too tightly held by clay minerals (see section 1.3.4).



Figure 18 - ¹³⁷Cs (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass measured in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001.



Figure 19 - ¹³⁷Cs (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass – distribution of results.

The specific activity of ¹³⁷Cs in soil varies between approximately 2 and 85 Bq kg⁻¹ and the data appear to have a normal distribution, as was seen with the soil ⁴⁰K data.

As mentioned before, variability in the street dust results is to be expected, as it is a very heterogeneous matrix. The street dust results for ¹³⁷Cs, however, show two outlying results (Figure 20), which whilst not of radiological concern when compared to the GDLs set for mixed soil (no GDL available for street dust), are definitely outliers from the main body of

results. The two outliers do not occur at the same site and in both cases were observed only at one sampling time at each site. They are both derived from sites which potentially could be sources of 137 Cs, so a point source release from the laboratories may have been responsible for the elevated levels. There are, however, a number of other possible explanations: the grain size of these particular samples could be smaller than the other samples and therefore could have a higher concentration of 137 Cs (see section 1.3.4); or the two samples could have had a higher illitic clay content than the other samples and thus have a better binding capacity for 137 Cs.



Figure 20 - ¹³⁷Cs (Bq kg⁻¹) in Street dust measured in July 2000, November 2000 and April 2001.

The ¹³⁷Cs data populations for grass, soil and street dust were analysed using the same descriptive statistics as used for ⁴⁰K. These results are presented below in Table 33. In order to assess the influence of the two outlying results, the ¹³⁷Cs data population for street dust was analysed once including the outliers and once excluding the outliers.

	¹³⁷ Cs Grass	¹³⁷ Cs Soil	¹³⁷ Cs Street dust	¹³⁷ Cs Street dust
			(with outliers)	(without outliers)
Mean	6.9 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	35.1 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	35.6 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	19.1 (Bq kg ⁻¹)
Standard deviation	5.9 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	20.7 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	57.0 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	17.5 (Bq kg ⁻¹)
No: observations	23	23	23	21
Minimum	1.2 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	2.4 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	0	0
Maximum	22.5 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	85.1 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	211.5 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	63.4 (Bq kg ⁻¹)

 Table 33 – ¹³⁷Cs data population summary statistics

In this case, the mean for the grass is the lowest. The standard deviation and the range of the street dust population is lowered significantly by removing the outliers. More sampling and analysis would be required to assess if these 'outliers' really do represent a significant increase from the average expected value. These results, whilst highlighting the variability of environmental ¹³⁷Cs specific activities, characterise the range of activities for comparison with future monitoring. These ranges could be used to estimate an average dose, but the uncertainty related to this estimate would be large.

⁷Be

As ⁷Be is a cosmic ray-produced radionuclide, it provides an interesting example of recent atmospheric deposition and, given its uniform atmospheric production rate and relatively uniform rainfall over the study area, it might be reasonable to expect a fairly uniform distribution. Therefore, variations observed must be largely due to differences in sample composition or the management of the site. Certainly, in this case it would be expected that temporal variations would be larger than spatial variations. Calculating the coefficient of variation can quantitatively demonstrate the amount of variation observed and may be useful when comparing spatial and temporal variation. It is calculated as follows:

Coefficient of variation = $\underline{\text{standard deviation of data population}} \times 100 \%$ mean of population However, with only three sampling times, considerable variation was observed. This is the type of approach that could be applied if a more regular monitoring program was adopted. Basic summary statistics were applied and can be found in Table 34.

	⁷ Be in grass	⁷ Be in street dust	
Mean	201 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	153 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	
Standard deviation	132 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	124 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	
No: of observations	23	23	
Minimum	46 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	44 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	
Maximum	530 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	595 (Bq kg ⁻¹)	

 Table 34 - 7Be data population summary statistics

It was not surprising to find the highest specific activities in the grass samples as ⁷Be will be deposited on the surface of the grass both by wet and dry deposition. The street dust had the next highest values after the grass samples and this may be explained by the fact that the street dust samples were gathered from exposed street surfaces, which will also receive direct input of ⁷Be. Also, all of the street dust samples will have been at or near the surface at the time of sampling unlike the soil samples, a large proportion of which will have been at depth (0-15 cm) for some time. The bulk soil samples had no detectable ⁷Be (see section 3.2).

²²⁶Ra

The extended results from the gamma spectrometry analyses carried out at GCSS are presented in Appendix one. The measured ²¹⁴Pb and ²¹⁴Bi activities were in generally good agreement and the activity of ²²⁶Ra was calculated from their average.

²²⁶Ra is a naturally occurring radionuclide, which is a member of the ²³⁸U decay chain. The distribution and variation in the specific activities of ⁴⁰K, which is also a naturally occurring radionuclide, showed possible influences from anthropogenic input. Anthropogenic influence is less likely with a radionuclide such as ²²⁶Ra, but is not impossible. There was

considerable variation between the ²²⁶Ra results obtained for the two sampling times in November 2000 and April 2001 and, certainly in the case of the grass and the street dust samples, the November samples are almost consistently higher. The soil sample results are the most consistent between the two sampling times at the majority of the sites. As the soil formed from the geological parent material, the parent nuclides for ²²⁶Ra (most importantly ²³⁸U) will be present, supplying ²²⁶Ra to the soil through their own decay. The soil data population approximates to a normal distribution and, again, is fairly similar to the ⁴⁰K soil data population. This is consistent with the nature of the ²²⁶Ra origin in soil. These results suggest a natural range of specific activities from approximately 12 to 40 Bq kg⁻¹ as shown in Figure 21.



Figure 21 – ²²⁶Ra (Bq kg^{·1}) in soil – distribution of results.

The grass population, however, shows a distribution which is close to exponential (Figure 22) as was observed for ¹³⁷Cs in grass. This differs from the ⁴⁰K grass data population which resembled a normal distribution with a 'tail'. ²²⁶Ra is not a macronutrient required by plants, as ⁴⁰K is, and so it will not be as readily taken up by the grass.



Figure 22 – ²²⁶Ra (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass – distribution of results.

	²²⁶ Ra Grass	²²⁶ Ra Soil	²²⁶ Ra Street dust
Mean	9.5	25.3	12.1
Standard deviation	6.9	8.1	6.4
No: of observations	8	17	17
Minimum	1.45	11.9	3.8
Maximum	17.5	44.4	22.2

Table 35 – ²²⁶Ra data population summary statistics

The ²²⁶Ra data population summary statistics are shown in Table 35. The standard deviation was largest in the case of the soil. The grass, soil and street dust results show mean ²²⁶Ra specific activities of 9.5 Bq kg⁻¹, 25.3 Bq kg⁻¹ and 12.1 Bq kg⁻¹, respectively.

Clyde estuary water

⁴⁰K was detectable in both estuarine samples at 5.36 Bq Γ^1 and 10 Bq Γ^1 in March 2001 and May 2001, respectively. These results are comparable to the specific activity of 11.16 Bq Γ^1 of ⁴⁰K in open sea water (Riley and Skirrow, 1975), with the slightly lower values here being attributed to the lower salinity in estuarine waters. On one occasion (May 2001), ¹³¹I was detected at low levels. ¹³¹I is used in hospitals as a tool in thyroid function diagnosis and thyroid imaging (Germain, 1993). The Renfrew Ferry sampling location is down stream

of the sewage works which handles the waste from hospitals, including the Southern General Hospital. This hospital has a nuclear medicine department, is licensed to discharge15 GBq of ¹³¹I monthly to sewers, and so is a feasible source of the ¹³¹I (Personal communication: J Gemmill, SEPA). The detection of this radionuclide illustrates that such a survey is probably sensitive enough to detect radionuclides that can be linked to a point source. With more regular monitoring, the extent to which ¹³¹I is present in the Clyde could be assessed and the probable source of this nuclide could be identified with more certainty.

Small scale spatial variation

In studies of soil systems it is difficult to obtain truly representative samples because of spatial variability and in order to characterise such variations, replicate samples were taken at two of the sites, one at each sample time. Clearly, any spatial variation will also be incorporated into the 'temporal' variation observed by this sampling regime.

The ¹³⁷Cs street dust samples showed good reproducibility (Tables 21-23) at both the sites under investigation. ¹³⁷Cs specific activities ranged from 14-19 Bq kg⁻¹ at the Victoria Infirmary site as opposed to 144-271 Bq kg⁻¹ at the Colston Laboratory. The ¹³⁷Cs specific activities in grass however, do not show the same degree of between-site variation and are all within the range 1.8-8.5 Bq kg⁻¹. ¹³⁷Cs variability is greatest in street dust as opposed to ⁴⁰K, which had a high variability in both street dust and grass. This variation is up to an order of magnitude in street dust and grass at both sites and at both sampling times. Sample composition is almost certainly the cause of this variation.

²²⁶Ra in each matrix, and ⁷Be in street dust and grass (soil results were below the limit of detection) show a considerable degree of variation but it is difficult to define the variation within such a small data set. If the data set was larger, the coefficient of variation could be used to quantify the variation.

Pollok Park Cores

An important point to note before embarking on the discussion of these cores is that only one core of each soil type was analysed. Therefore, findings are specific to the cores analysed and may not necessarily be representative of the soil type in general. Additional cores would have to analysed to assess the local spatial variation and to determine if the trends observed in this study are consistent for the area.

Soil characteristics

Figure 23 illustrates a significant difference in organic content between the three soil types. In the top 5 cm of the coniferous profile, there is close to 60% organic material at the surface, representing an area of little organic breakdown. Below 5 cm in the coniferous soil, the percentage of organic material decreases relatively regularly down to approximately 10% at the base of the core. This represents an increase in breakdown of organic material relative to the top 5 cm of the core. The organic input to this system would be continuous throughout the year and would largely be made up of waxy, resistant leaves (Behera et al., 2002; Dursun et al., 1993).

The deciduous soil shows a smooth decline from close to 40 % organic material at the surface down to approximately 5% at the base of the core. This smooth decline in organic material is consistent with field observations of the well-graded soil profile. Organic input here would differ from the coniferous forest soil input in that it would be concentrated in the autumn months and consist with less resistant, deciduous leaves (Reith et al., 2002). There is also the possibility of loss of leaves (and any associated metals) by either wind action or human activity.

The grassland soil exhibited less of a decline in % organic material than the two other soils, with a variation from approximately 20% at the surface to 10% at the base of the core. Organic input in the grassland system would be relatively small compared to the other two systems and would consist of roots and decaying grass.




The pH of the deciduous and coniferous cores are very similar at the surface (Figure 24). The deciduous pH, however, then rises slightly and stays fairly constant down to 7 cm, with an average of 3.61. The pH of the coniferous soil decreases slightly down the profile, with an average of 3.38.

The pH of 6.0 at the surface of the grassland sample is much higher than corresponding values for both forest soils. The pH of the grassland soil decreases slightly down the profile, but stays consistently above the pH of both the coniferous and deciduous soils. This is consistent with the large input of organic material to the two forest soils. This organic input provides a large supply of humic acids which will lower the pH and the relatively lower mineral content of these soils will reduce the buffering capacity by clays (VanLoon and Duffy, 2000).



Figure 24 - pH in short cores of deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil

Radionuclide distributions and inventories

²¹⁰Pb

Input of ²¹⁰Pb to the study area is dominated by natural atmospheric input from decay of ²²²Rn. Enhancement of ²¹⁰Pb in the soils from anthropogenic sources is possible and sources include atmospheric deposition of lead from the combustion of coal and industrial activities such as smelting. Lead in leaded petrol is of 'geological' age and is therefore unlikely to be a major source of ²¹⁰Pb (MacKenzie, 2000).

All three soils have their highest specific activities at the surface (Figure 25). The coniferous soil shows a general decrease in ²¹⁰Pb activity with depth, but an irregularity in the profile, with an anomalously low value at approximately 2 cm, indicating heterogeneity in the soil composition.



Figure 25 - Total ²¹⁰Pb specific activity (Bq kg⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and grassland cores, October 2000.

Unsupported ²¹⁰Pb (Figure 26) is detected down to a depth of between 9 and 10 cm in the coniferous soil. The deciduous profile decreases smoothly and always stays lower than the specific activity in the coniferous soil. In the case of the deciduous core, unsupported ²¹⁰Pb is detected only to a depth of between 4 and 5 cm. Unsupported ²¹⁰Pb was detected in the grassland soil down to between 8 and 9 cm.



Figure 26 – In unsupported ²¹⁰Pb in the coniferous, deciduous and grassland cores, October 2000

The empirical results show that the unsupported ²¹⁰Pb decreases exponentially with increasing depth. There are two possible explanations for this exponential decrease.

- The soil could be accumulating as is observed for ombrotrophic peat deposits (MacKenzie et al., 1997). Or,
- ii) Downward migration of ²¹⁰Pb may be occurring.

These possible processes are considered below.

Accumulation:

Apparent accumulation rates were calculated as follows. Assuming the rate of deposition of ²¹⁰Pb and the rate of accumulation are constant, gives S/ λ as a constant (S= accumulation rate) and the graph of ln ²¹⁰Pb (x-axis) against depth (y-axis) is of the form y = mx + c, i.e. a straight line graph with the gradient m = -S/ λ (Appleby and Oldfield, 1992).

Apparent accumulation rates were calculated for the three soils and are shown in Table 36.

Soil Type	Accumulation rate (cm y^{-1})
Deciduous	0.052
Coniferous	0.099
Grassland	0.133

Table 36 – Apparent accumulation rates (cm y^{-1}) for the deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil cores.

The buildings and roads in Pollok Park have been at the same level for several hundred years and there has been no apparent change in the level of the soil surface relative to these features. This would appear to make it unlikely that the soils are accumulating. The soils, however, do receive a regular input of organic matter and could possibly be accumulating and undergoing compaction, leaving the surface level relatively unaltered. This requires further investigation and is further discussed later.

Accumulation rates in the literature for peats in Central Scotland are of the order of 0.07-0.08 cm year⁻¹ (MacKenzie et al., 1997, 1998) and compare fairly well with the apparent accumulation rates calculated for the deciduous and coniferous soils. From the calculations, the grassland soil seems to have a slightly higher apparent accumulation rate.

Migration:

If migration is the process operating then, since the ²¹⁰Pb profile follows an exponential trend, it can be modelled as a steady state diffusion process. This allows the calculation of an effective diffusion coefficient as follows:

Diffusive mixing generates a profile of the form:

$$A_z = A_s e^{-kz}$$

Where $k = (\lambda / D)^{1/2}$ (D = Diffusion coefficient)

Again, assuming steady state conditions this is a straight line graph with the gradient -1/k (Huh and Kadko, 1992). The gradient from the plot of ln unsupported ²¹⁰Pb verses depth

was again used to calculate effective diffusion coefficients for the three soils as shown in Table 37.

Soil Type	Diffusion Coefficient (cm ² yr ⁻¹)
Deciduous	0.09
Coniferous	0.33
Grassland	0.59

Table 37 –Effective diffusion rates $(cm^2 yr^{-1})$ for the deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil cores.

The effective diffusion coefficients imply that the fastest diffusion occurs in the grassland soil, which could suggest that lead exists in more mobile forms in this soil. It is likely in the case of the grassland soil that mixing will occur at the top of the core due to root action and soil faunal activity.

It is not possible, on the basis of the ²¹⁰Pb profile alone, to distinguish between accumulation of the soils or migration of ²¹⁰Pb. However, comparison with the distribution of other radionuclides can be used in this context as discussed later.

The ²¹⁰Pb inventories for each soil type were calculated as outlined in section 3.2, and are summarised in Table 38.

Soil Type	²¹⁰ Pb Inventory (Bq m ⁻²)	Average ²¹⁰ Pb Flux (Bq m ^{-2} y ^{-1})
Deciduous	1117	34
Coniferous	3966	119
Grassland	1573	47

Table 38- Summary of soil ²¹⁰Pb inventories and flux from the deciduous, coniferous and grassland cores

The inventory for the coniferous soil core is comparable to those for ombrotrophic peat cores from central Scotland, which are regarded as providing good estimates of the inventory derived from atmospheric deposition of ²¹⁰Pb (MacKenzie *et al.*, 1998).

e.g. Flanders moss - Inventory: 3531 Bq m^{-2} Flux: $110 \text{ Bq m}^{-2} \text{ y}^{-1}$

> Fenwick moor -Inventory: 3380 Bq m⁻² Flux: 106 Bq m⁻² y⁻¹



Figure 27 – Map of Scotland showing the locations of Flanders Moss and Fenwick Moor in relation to Glasgow

The deciduous and grassland ²¹⁰Pb inventories, however, are significantly lower than the inventory for the coniferous site. This suggests that the deciduous and grassland systems are losing lead by a factor of approximately three. There are a number of factors that could be causing this loss. Firstly, the deciduous forest canopy is very different from the coniferous canopy due to the seasonality of the deciduous trees and the difference in surface area of the leaves. The initial interception of atmospheric particles by the canopy may have an effect on the overall behaviour of lead in the two systems. The coniferous soil has the same degree of protection from the canopy all year round as opposed to the deciduous soil, which is

exposed over autumn and winter. This could allow the falling rain to have more of an influence on the deciduous soil and promote faster leaching of lead. This increased exposure relative to the coniferous site would affect the grassland site all year round thus potentially contributing to the higher diffusion coefficient and lower lead inventory.

Pb is complexed by organic matter and the breakdown of organic matter may be an important mechanism controlling Pb transport in soils via organic colloids (Wang and Benoit, 1996). Although the % organic matter in the grassland soil is fairly high, it is *relatively* lower than the other two soil types. This lower % organic matter in the grassland soil *may* result in a lower Pb binding capacity and the higher rate of organic matter breakdown in the deciduous soil may promote Pb movement via the organic colloid transport mechanism. The lead which is leached through the profiles may then be removed at depth by groundwater or may be immobilised in the sub soil, beneath 20 cm, and thus would not have been detected by this research. In addition, the type of organic matter between the three sites is likely to differ as each site receives input from different types of organic material. For example the coniferous site will receive input of resistant coniferous leaves which are hard to breakdown, whilst the grassland site will receive roots and grass which are relatively less tough and easier to break down. These differences in organic matter type may influence Pb retention.

Although the grass on the grassland site is cut, it is not removed from the site, and therefore this would not represent a significant pathway for loss of lead from the system.

The greater exposure in the deciduous system and the greater surface area of the leaves may result in the wind blowing more of the deciduous leaves away and therefore removing the lead. Differing rates and types of microbial activity may also have a part to play in the different ²¹⁰Pb inventories. Soil microbes and fauna, in particular earthworms, in the deciduous system greatly assist with the breakdown of organic matter and may promote movement of radionuclides in the system. This, in turn, may make the radionuclides more readily lost by leaching.

¹³⁷Cs

The ¹³⁷Cs profile in the deciduous soil exhibits a smooth exponential decrease with increasing depth, strongly suggestive of downwards migration in a diffusion like process (Figure 28). As noted above, there is considerable uncertainty over the validity of the apparent accumulation rates derived from the ²¹⁰Pb data. However, these accumulation rates can be used to estimate ages of specific horizons in the soil that would apply if accumulation is occurring. Such ages can then be compared with known dates of input of other species such as ¹³⁷Cs. On this basis, the deepest point at which ¹³⁷Cs is detectable (6.5 cm) would equate to 1876 using the apparent ²¹⁰Pb deciduous accumulation rate of 0.052 cm y⁻¹. This date is obviously much earlier than the introduction of ¹³⁷Cs to the environment, so it points to the fact that the ¹³⁷Cs has undergone significant migration even if the apparent accumulation rate for the deciduous soil is correct.



Figure 28 – ¹³⁷Cs (Bq kg⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and grassland cores.

The highest specific activity found in the coniferous profile is at a depth of between 2 and 3 cm with another small sub-surface peak at a depth of approximately 6 cm. This shape of profile could be attributed to two things. The first is heterogeneity in the physicochemical features of the coniferous soil. Different layers in this heterogeneous soil may create a geochemical barrier and thus could increase accumulation of radionuclides in selected soil layers, as was found in a study by Fesenko et al. (2001). The second possible interpretation of this profile shape is that it may reflect the maximum inputs of ¹³⁷Cs resulting in two peaks representing the 1986 Chernobyl reactor accident, and 1962-3, the peak of atmospheric weapons testing fallout. To investigate this further, the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate of 0.099 cm² y⁻¹ was used. This calculation implied the peak at 2 cm would equate to approximately 1980 whilst the peak at 6 cm would equate to approximately 1940. If the deepest point where ¹³⁷Cs is observed in the profile (14.5 cm) is treated in the same way, this would equate approximately to 1854. This date, along with the estimated date of 1940 for the lower peak, is well before the introduction of ¹³⁷Cs to the environment and again indicates downward migration of ¹³⁷Cs.

The grassland ¹³⁷Cs profile is consistent with the ²¹⁰Pb profile in that the profile is probably influenced by mixing at the surface. This may explain the low value at the surface of the core. If the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate of 0.133 for the grassland soil was used to calculate an approximate age for the deepest point where ¹³⁷Cs is detected in the core (14.5 cm). This would approximately equate to 1892, which again is indicative of downward leaching of ¹³⁷Cs.

Inventories of ¹³⁷Cs in the three soil types were calculated and are shown in Table 39.

Soil Type	¹³⁷ Cs inventory (Bq m ⁻²)
Deciduous	4906
Coniferous	6561
Grassland	5364

Table 39 – ¹³⁷Cs inventory (Bq m⁻²) in deciduous, coniferous and grassland cores.

Interestingly, the coniferous soil shows a higher ¹³⁷Cs inventory than the deciduous soil, which corresponds to the trend observed for ²¹⁰Pb inventories. All three ¹³⁷Cs inventories were broadly comparable to the value of 3700 Bq m⁻² given by Cawse and Horrill (1986) for 0-30 cm ¹³⁷Cs inventory measurements in the UK. The inventories measured in 2001 in the coniferous, deciduous and grassland soils would have received input of ¹³⁷Cs additional to this from the Chernobyl accident in April 1986 and are therefore slightly higher than the value of 3700 Bq m⁻² published by Cawse and Horrill.

²⁴¹Am

²⁴¹Am was not generated in significant quantities during weapons tests and its presence in the environment can be attributed to decay of fallout-derived ²⁴¹Pu. In both the coniferous and deciduous soils, the results are so close to the limit of detection that it is difficult to draw firm conclusions from the ²⁴¹Am profiles (Figure 29). However, the presence of the ²⁴¹Am in the coniferous sample at 1-3 cm indicates that the ¹³⁷Cs peak observed at this depth is not solely a Chernobyl peak. ²⁴¹Am is detected further down the profile in the case of the coniferous soil, which is consistent with other nuclides. If the ²⁴¹Am peak is taken to be at 3.5 cm and is dated using the apparent ²¹⁰Pb coniferous accumulation rate, the peak equates to 1965, which is close to the maximum input of ²⁴¹Am to the environment due to atmospheric weapons testing.

If the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate is used to investigate the lowest detectable point of ²⁴¹Am in the deciduous core (2.5 cm), this equates to 1954 which is a viable estimate for the start of weapons testing and therefore the introduction of ²⁴¹Pu into the environment. The ²⁴¹Am data could therefore be taken to support the hypothesis that the forest soils are accumulating.



Figure 29 – ²⁴¹Am (Bq kg⁻¹) in deciduous and coniferous cores.

Pu isotopes

The ^{239,240}Pu in the coniferous soil shows a sub-surface peak from approximately 2.5 cm – 4.5 cm, corresponding to the most organic subsurface part of the profile. This was consistent with other work in that most of the plutonium held in soil is associated with the organic phase (Skipperud et al., 2000; Bunzl et al., 1992; Livens and Baxter, 1988). The ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu ratio for the 5-6 cm grassland core section indicated contamination of the sample in the laboratory and the increase in Pu concentration at this depth probably does not represent a true peak in the core. Therefore, excluding this sample, grassland plutonium profiles show consistently low values. Due to this contamination and the lack of Pu results for 0-2 cm section of the grassland core, an inventory was not calculated for this soil type. ^{239,240}Pu inventories (Table 40) were 47 Bq m⁻² and 89 Bq m⁻² for the deciduous and coniferous cores, respectively. This follows the same pattern as the % organic content which may explain the difference in inventories. The ^{239,240}Pu inventories were however both

comparable to the ^{239,240}Pu inventory of 67 Bq m⁻² given by Cawse and Horrill (1986). ²³⁸Pu inventories (Table 41) showed a similar pattern as the ^{239,240}Pu inventories with the deciduous inventory being lower than that of the coniferous. Cawse and Horrill (1986) gave a UK ²³⁸Pu inventory value of 4.8 Bq m⁻², measured in 1977. Both the coniferous and deciduous inventories are slightly lower than this value, owing to a degree of decay of the ²³⁸Pu. When this value is decay corrected to 2001, the ²³⁸Pu inventory value is 3.9 Bq m⁻², which is of a similar magnitude to the values obtained for the coniferous and deciduous cores in Pollok Park.

Soil Type	^{239,240} Pu inventory (Bq m ⁻²)
Deciduous	47
Coniferous	89

Soil Type	²³⁸ Pu inventory (Bq m ⁻²)
Deciduous	1.3
Coniferous	2.8

 Table 41 – ²³⁸Pu inventory (Bq m⁻²) in deciduous and coniferous cores.

Using the coniferous apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate, the ^{239,240}Pu peak in the coniferous profile at 3.5 cm would approximately equate to 1965 and the ²³⁸Pu peak at 3.9 cm would equate to approximately 1962. As this was a time of significant release of Pu to the environment, it would appear as if the coniferous ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate is feasible.

However, the lowest detectable ²³⁸Pu and ^{239,240}Pu at 7.5 cm would equate to approximately 1925, which is earlier than the introduction of plutonium into the environment and therefore refutes the apparent agreement between the ²¹⁰Pb and Pu profiles. If the deciduous ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rate was applied to the lowest detectable point in the deciduous ^{239,240}Pu profile (9.5 cm), this would equate to approximately 1819 and the lowest point of ²³⁸Pu (6.5 cm) would approximately equate to 1876. This indicates that either the deciduous ²¹⁰Pb

accumulation rate is not correct (i.e. the soil is not accumulating), or the Pu is migrating down the profile.

The lowest detectable ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu in the grassland soil (7.5 cm) would equate to 1944 when the ²¹⁰Pb grassland accumulation rate of 0.133 cm² yr⁻¹ is applied. Again, this date is too early suggesting that the grassland core is not accumulating. This evidence indicates that either the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rates for the three soils types are not correct (i.e. the soils are not accumulating), or the plutonium is migrating down the profiles. The latter is more probable, but this does not necessarily indicate that plutonium is migrating in solution, since bioturbation could be contributing to this movement.

The expected ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu fallout activity ratio for 2001 is approximately 0.029. The ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu activity ratio varies slightly down each profile but, in the case of the deciduous soil type, the average of the measured values is 0.029 and so agrees very well with the expected value. The coniferous soil ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu activity ratio is slightly higher than the deciduous, but stays approximately within error of the expected fallout ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu activity ratio of 0.029. As previously mentioned, the 5-6 cm grassland sample ²³⁸Pu/ ^{239,240}Pu activity ratio indicated the presence of contamination and so must be discounted from any discussion of the ratio. The other grassland samples did vary but, like the coniferous samples, did stay approximately within error of the expected value.



Figure $30 - {}^{239,240}Pu$ (Bq kg⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil



Figure 31- ²³⁸Pu (Bq kg⁻¹) in deciduous, coniferous and grassland soil

To bring these results together, all three cores suggested the downward movement of ¹³⁷Cs. ²⁴¹Am in the coniferous core at depths of 1-3 cm indicates that the ¹³⁷Cs peak at this depth is not solely a Chernobyl peak. The apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rates calculated for the coniferous and deciduous soils are not consistent with the times of plutonium release to the environment. It can therefore be concluded that the coniferous and deciduous soils are not accumulating. It is more likely that the exponential decrease observed in the unsupported ²¹⁰Pb is caused by diffusion of lead.

The grassland soil exhibited a profile indicative of mixing, probably due to disturbance from roots and soil fauna. No ²⁴¹Am was detectable in the grassland core. The ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rates calculated for the grassland core did not correspond to the ²³⁸Pu and ^{239,240}Pu detected in the core and therefore it could be concluded that the grassland core is probably not accumulating.

Plutonium sequential extraction

As previously expressed, most of the Pu held in soil was expected to be associated with the organic phase. The sequential extraction (although subject to experimental errors) did highlight this association of Pu with the organic phase.

The sequential extraction results also highlighted that there were problems with the technique. It was expected to achieve both higher results and a positive reading from more of the samples. This may be due to the fact that the sequential extraction introduced many more steps into an already lengthy Pu extraction experiment. These steps gave more opportunity for the plutonium to be lost along the way. Also, as mentioned in section 2.3.4, this method was developed for more mineral soils and a small percentage of the sample was probably lost at each stage due to the highly organic nature of the samples. It can therefore be concluded that this method would need considerable revision to achieve better results on such organic soil.

Chapter 5. Conclusions

The main findings from this research are:

- ⁴⁰K specific activities generally decreased in the order grass> street dust > soil. The ranges observed in ⁴⁰K specific activities were 197-2115 (Bq kg⁻¹), 189-1000 (Bq kg⁻¹) 225-479 (Bq kg⁻¹), in grass, street dust and soil, respectively. The variability in the ⁴⁰K specific activities also decreased in this order. Some of this variation has been attributed to environmental management of selected sites. For example, the Pollok Park fertilised grass sample had a ⁴⁰K specific activity of 1910 ± 150, and the Pollok Park unfertilised grass sample had a ⁴⁰K specific activity below the limit of detection.
- ¹³⁷Cs specific activities ranged from 1.2- 22.5 (Bq kg⁻¹) in grass, 2.4-85.1 (Bq kg⁻¹) in soil and from below the detection limit to 211 (Bq kg⁻¹) in street dust. The ¹³⁷Cs street dust data population showed a broadly exponential trend with 2 outliers. These outliers may have been due to differences in sample composition (e.g. a high illitic clay content), but both were observed near potential point sources of ¹³⁷Cs.
- ⁷Be, a cosmic ray- produced radionuclide, was detected in grass with specific activities in the range 46-530 (Bq kg⁻¹) and in street dust in the range 44-595 (Bq kg⁻¹). Considerable variation was observed both spatially and temporally, despite having a uniform atmospheric production rate and fairly uniform rainfall over the study area. ⁷Be detected in soil (0-15 cm) was negligible, probably due to the fact that very little of the soil sampled would have been exposed to the input of ⁷Be from the atmosphere via wet or dry deposition.
- The highest specific activities of ²²⁶Ra , a daughter nuclide of ²³⁸U, were observed in soil (11.9- 44.4 Bq kg⁻¹), with fairly consistent results being observed both spatially and temporally. The ranges of specific activities observed in grass and street dust were 1.45- 17.5 (Bq kg⁻¹) and 3.8 –22.2 (Bq kg⁻¹), respectively.

- ⁴⁰K was detected in the Clyde Estuary waters at levels consistent with those expected for estuarine waters.¹³¹I was detected in the Clyde Estuary, down stream of a hospital with a nuclear medicine facility. This, and the ¹³⁷Cs outliers in street dust, highlighted that this survey was sensitive enough to detect radionuclides that may be linked to a point source.
- The coniferous soil from Pollok Park was found to have the lowest pH and highest organic content and a ²¹⁰Pb inventory which was comparable to other ²¹⁰Pb inventories in the literature for Central Scotland.
- The deciduous soil also had a low pH and high organic content and had a ²¹⁰Pb inventory approximately a factor of three lower than the coniferous soil.
- An exponential decrease in unsupported ²¹⁰Pb specific activities with increasing depth in both the coniferous and deciduous soils could be attributed either to accumulation of the soils or to downward migration of the ²¹⁰Pb. However, the depth distributions of ^{239,240}Pu in both cases were inconsistent with the apparent ²¹⁰Pb accumulation rates, indicating that the presence of natural and manmade radionuclides at depth in these profiles is almost certainly due to downward migration.
- The grassland soil had a higher pH and lower organic content than both the forest soils and had a ²¹⁰Pb inventory comparable with the deciduous soil core. The grassland core exhibited a profile indicative of mixing, and accumulation of this soil is unlikely.
- All three cores from Pollok Park suggest the downward movement of 137 Cs.
- ¹³⁷Cs inventories for the deciduous, coniferous and grassland soils and the ^{239,240}Pu and ²³⁸Pu inventories for the coniferous and deciduous soils were broadly

comparable to values for inventory measurements in the literature.

• Plutonium was found to be associated with the organic phase of the forest soils but considerable revision of the BCR sequential extraction technique would be needed in future for use on such organic soils.

-

References

ABRAZAK, I A, LI, A, and CHRISTENSEN, E R. 1996. Association of PAHs, PCBs, Cs-137, and Pb-210 with clay, silt, and organic carbon in sediments. Water Science and Technology, Vol. 34, 29-35.

AGAPKINA, G, I, TIKHOMIROV, F, A, and SHCHEGLOV, A, I. 1995. Association of Chernobyl-derived ^{239,240}Pu, ²⁴¹Am, ⁹⁰Sr and ¹³⁷Cs with organic matter in the soil solution. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 29, Issue 3, 257-269.

ALEXANDER, L T. 1967. Depth of penetration of the radioisotopes ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs. United States Atomic Energy Commission report No: HA183, New York, October 1967, p16-21.

AMUNDSEN, I, HOVE, K and STRAND, P. 1996. Transfer and long term behaviour of ¹³⁷Cs in sheep at Tjotta, Norway. Nordic Radiation Protection Society, Reykjavik, published on www.gr.is/nsfs/amundsen, 6 pages.

APPLEBY, P G, NOLAN, P, J, GIFFORD, D W, GODFREY, M, F, OLDFIELD, F, ANDERSON, N J, and BATTARBEE, R W. 1986. ²¹⁰Pb dating by low background gamma counting. Hydrobiologia, Vol. 143, 21-27.

APPLEBY, P G and OLDFIELD, F. 1992. Application of ²¹⁰Pb to sedimentation studies. *In* Uranium-series disequilibrium- Applications to Earth, Marine and Environmental Sciences. Ivanovich and Harmon, second edition, 731-788.

APPLETON, J D, and BALL, T K. 1995. Radon and background radioactivity from natural sources. British Geological Survey, technical report WP/95/2. 92 pages.

ARUNACHALAM, J, EMONS, H, KRASNODEBSKA, B, and MOHL, C. 1996. Sequential extraction studies on homogenized forest soil samples. The Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 181, 147-159.

ASKBRANT, S, MELIN, J, RAURET, G, VALLEJO, R, HINTON, T and ALEXAKHIN, R, M. 1996. Mobility of radionuclides in undisturbed and cultivated soils in Ukraine, Belarus and Russia six years after the Chernobyl fallout. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity Vol. 31 No. 3, 287-311.

ASTON, S R, and DUURSMA, E K. 1973. Concentration effects on ¹³⁷Cs, ⁶⁵Zn, ⁶⁰Co and ¹⁰⁶Ru sorption by marine sediments, with geochemical implications. Netherlands Journal of sea research, Vol. 6, 225-240.

BAXTER, M S. 1993. Environmental radioactivity: A perspective on industrial contributions. International Atomic Energy Agency, IAEA Bulletin, Special Report (2) 1993, 33-38.

BAXTER, M S. 1996. Technologically enhanced radioactivity: an overview. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 32, 3-17.

BAXTER, M S, MACKENZIE, A B, and EAST, B W. 1996. Natural decay series radionuclides in and around a large metal refinery. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 32, 115-133.

BEASLEY, T M, CARPENTER, R, and JENNINGS, C D. 1981. Plutonium, ²⁴¹Am and ¹³⁷Cs ratios, inventories and vertical profiles in Washington and Oregon continental shelf sediments. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta., Vol. 46, 1931-1946.

BEHERA, M,D, KUSHWAHA, S,P and ROY, P,S. Jan 2002. Comparing structure and composition of coniferous forests in Subansiri District, Arunachal Prudesh. Current Science Vol. 82 (1), 70-76.

BEM, E M, BEM, H, and WIECZORKOWSKI, P. 1998. Studies of radionuclide concentrations in surface soil in and around fly ash disposal sites. Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 220, 215-222.

BERESFORD, N A, HOWARD, B J, and BARNETT, C L. 1991. The uptake by vegetation of Chernobyl and aged radiocaesium in Upland and West Cumbria. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 16, 181-195.

BGS. 1986. Glasgow- Urban Geology. Journal of the Geological survey, Vol. 143, 511-515.

BRITISH ECOLOGICAL SOCIETY. 1983. Ecological aspects of radionuclide release. (Blackwell Scientific Publications) 294 pages.

BROWN, E, and FIRESTONE, R B. 1986. Table of radioactive isotopes. (New York: John Wiley and sons.)

BUNZL, K, KRACKE, W, and SCHIMMACK, W. 1992. Vertical Migration of ^{239,240}Pu, ²⁴¹Am and ¹³⁷Cs in a Forest under Spruce. Analyst, Vol. 117, 469-474.

CARROL, D. 1959. Ion exchange in clays and other minerals. Bulletin of the Geological Society of America, Vol. 70, 749-780.

CAWSE, P, A and HORRILL, A, D. 1986. A survey of caesium-137 and plutonium in British soils. Report AERE-R10155, Harwell.

CHENG, H S. 1965. Soil Science, Role of exchangeable potassium and Magnesium on Caesium Absorption on marine sediments. Nature, Vol. 207, p1010.

CHOPPIN, G, RYDBERG, J, and LILJENZIN, J O. 1995. Radiochemistry and nuclear chemistry- 2nd edition of nuclear chemistry. Theory and applications. (Butterworth and Heinmann.) 707 pages.

CHOPPIN, G. 1988. Humics and radionuclide migration. Radio Chemica Acta Vol. 44/45, 23-28.

CITY OF GLASGOW DISTRICT COUNCIL, 1980. Pollok Park, A visitor survey and review of managment implications. Report published by City of Glasgow district council. 158 pages.

CITY OF GLASGOW DISTRICT COUNCIL, 1985. A Pollok Park local plan-Draft written statement. Published by City of Glasgow District Council. 40 pages.

DEBERTIN, K, and HELMER, R G. 1998. Gamma- and X-ray Spectrometry with semiconductor detectors. 51-60. (North-Holland).

DE BOER, A, H. 1999. Potassium translocation into the root xylem system. Plant Biology Vol. 1 (1), 36-45.

DURSUN, S, INESON, P, FRANKLAND, J,C, BODDY, L. 1993. Sulfite and pH effects on CO_2 evolution from decomposing angiosperms and coniferous tree leaf litters. Soil biology and biochemistry Vol. 25, Iss 11, 1513-1525.

EB. 2001. Encyclopaedia Britannica Online. www.eb.com

EISENBUD, M, and GESELL, T. 1987. Environmental radioactivity-From natural, industrial and military sources. Third edition, Academic Press. 475 pages.

EISENBUD, M, and GESELL, T. 1997. Environmental radioactivity-From natural, industrial and military sources. Fourth edition, Academic Press. 655 pages.

ERIKSSON, E. 1952. Cation-exchange equilibria on clay minerals. Soil Science, Vol. 74, 103-113.

FESENKO, S.V, SOUKHOVA, N.V, SANZHAROVA, N.I, AVILA, R, SPIRIDONOV, S.I, KLEIN, D and BADOT, P.-M. 2001. ¹³⁷Cs availability for soil to understory transfer in different types of forest ecosystems. The science of the total environment, Vol. 269, 87-103.

FITZPATRICK, E A. 1974. An introduction to soil science, published by Oliver & Boyd. 176 pages.

FORSBERG, S, ROSEN, K, and BRECHIGNAC, F. 2001. Chemical availability of Cs-137 and Sr-90 in undisturbed lysimeter soils maintained under controlled and close-to-real conditions. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 54, 253-265.

FORSBERG, S, ROSEN, K, FERNANDEZ, V, and JUHAN, H. 2000. Migration of Cs-137 and Sr-90 in undisturbed soil profiles under controlled and close-to-real conditions. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 50, 235-252.

FRIEDLAND, A,J, MILLER, E,K, SICCAMA, T,G and DUNHAM,S. 1993. The redistribution of lead in forest soils in response to changing atmospheric deposition rates. Proceedings of the 9th international conference of Heavy Metals in the Environment, Toronto, 1993. Vol 2, 526-529. CEP Consultants, Edinburgh.

GERMAIN, J S T. 1993. Hospital Health Physics- External monitoring within a medical environment. Proceedings of the 1993 health physics summer school. 103-118.

Glasgow City Council- online. 2000. www.glasgow.gov.uk

GRAHAM, M C, VINOGRADOFF, S I, ABBOTT, A, and FARMER, J G. 2000. Application of gel electrophoretic techniques to the investigation of actinide-humic interactions in soils. Radiochimica Acta, Vol. 88, 775-778.

GREEN, N, WILKINS, B, T, DAVIDSON, M, F, and HAMMOND, D, J. 1995. The transfer of plutonium, americium and technetium along the soil pasture cow pathway in an area of land reclamation from the sea. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity Vol. 27 (1), 35-47.

HALLBERG, L, and BRISE, H. 1960. Determination of Fe55 and Fe59 in blood. Journal of applied radiation and isotopes, Vol. 9, 100-108.

HARDY, E P. 1974. Depth distributions of global fallout ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs and ^{239,240}Pu in sandy loam soil. *In* E.P. Hardy (cd), Health and Safety laboratory, United States Atomic Energy Commission, New York. Report No: HASL-286, October 1974. 169 pages.

HE, Q, and WALLING, D E. 1996. Interpreting particle size effects in the adsorption of Cs-137 and unsupported Pb-210 by mineral soils and sediments. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 30, 117-137.

HETHERINGTON, J A, and ROBSON, J C. 1979. An assessment of the radiological impact of tritium released to sea from the Windscale fuel reprocessing plant. Behaviour of tritium in the environment. (Vienna: IAEA.) 283-301.

HIRD, A D, RIMMER, D L, and LIVENS, F R. 1996. Factors affecting the sorption and fixation of Caesium in acid organic soil. European Journal of Soil Science, Vol. 47, 97-104.

HOGBOM, L and NOHRSTEDT, H-O. 2001. The fate of ¹³⁷Cs in coniferous forests following the application of wood-ash. The Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 280, 133-141.

HUH, C,-A, and KADKO. 1992. Marine sediments and sedimentation processes. *In* Uranium-series disequilibrium- Applications to Earth, Marine and Environmental Sciences. Ivanovich and Harmon, second edition, 481-486.

IAEA. 1989. Measurement of Radionuclides in Food and the Environment. A guidebook. International Atomic Energy Agency, Technical Reports Series No.295. 169 pages.

IVANOVICH, N and HARMON, R, S. 1992. Uranium-series disequilibrium: applications to earth, marine and environmental sciences. Clarendon press, Oxford. 910 pages.

JACOB, P, MULLER, H, PROHL, G, VOGIT, G, BERG, D, PARETZKE, H G, and REGULLA, D. 1993. Environmental behaviour of radionuclides deposited after the reactor accident of Chernobyl and related exposures. Radiation and Environmental Biophysics, Vol. 32, 193-207.

JOHNSON, C E, SICCAMA, T G, DRISCOLL, C T, LIKENS, G E, and MOELLER, R E. 1995. Changes in lead biogeochemistry in response to decreasing atmospheric inputs. Ecological applications, Vol. 5, 813-822.

KATZ, J J, SEABORG, G T, and MORSS, L R. 1986. Chapter 7- Plutonium. The chemistry of the actinide elements (second edition). (Chapman and Hall.) 886 pages.

LIVENS, F,R and BAXTER, M,S. 1988. Chemical associations of artificial radionuclides in Cumbrian soils. Journal of Environmental radioactivity Vol.7, 75-86.

LIVENS, F R, and LOVELAND, P J. 1988. The influence of soil properties on the environmental mobility of caesium in Cumbria. Soil use management, Vol. 4, 69-75.

LONGWORTH, G, CARPENTER, B, TOOLE, J, and NICHOLES, A. 1998. The radiochemical manual. LONGWORTH, G (editor). (AEA Technology) 322 pages.

LOVETT, G, M, TRAYNOR, M, M, POUYAT, R V, CARREIRO, M, M, ZHU, W, and BAXTER, J, W. 2000. Atmospheric deposition to Oak Forests along an Urban-Rural gradient. Environmental Science and Technology, Vol. 34, 4294-4300.

MACKENZIE, A B. 2000. Environmental radioactivity: experience from the 20th century - trends and issues for the 21st century. Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 249, 313-329.

MACKENZIE, A B, FARMER, J G, and SUGDEN, C L. 1997. Isotopic evidence of the relative retention and mobility of lead and radiocaesium in Scottish ombrotrophic peats. The Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 203, 115-127.

MACKENZIE, A B, LOGAN, E M, COOK, G T, and PULFORD, I D. 1998. Distributions, inventories and isotopic composition of lead in ²¹⁰Pb-dated peat cores from contrasting biogeochemical environments: Implications for lead mobility. The Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 223, 25-35.

MACKENZIE, A B, and SCOTT, R D. 1982. Radiocaesium and plutonium in intertidal sediments from southern Scotland. Nature, Vol. 299, 613-616.

MAFF. 1993. Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food aquatic environment monitoring report number 42. Radioactivity in surface and coastal waters of the British Isles. 110 pages.

MALANCA, A, GAIDOLFI, L, VALERIO, P AND DALLARA, G. 1996. Distribution of ²²⁶Ra, ²³²Th and ⁴⁰K in soils of Rio Grande do Norte (Brazil). Journal of Environmental radioactivity, Vol. 30, No 1, 55-67.

MCKINLEY. 1981. Prediction of radionuclide retardation during groundwater transport from laboratory sorption data of the International symposium on migration in the terrestrial environment of long-lived radionuclides from the nuclear fuel cycle, Knoxville, Tennessee, USA, IAEA, p257.

MECKBACH, R, JACOB, P, and PARETZKE, H G. 1988. Gamma exposures due to radionuclides deposited in urban environments. Part 1: Kerma rates from contaminated urban surfaces. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, Vol. 25, 167-179.

MECKBACH, R, JACOB, P, and PARETZKE, H G. 1988. Gamma exposures due to radionuclides deposited in urban environments. Part 2: Location factors for different deposition patterns. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, Vol. 25, 181-190.

MURAMATSU, Y, HAMILTON, T, UCHIDA, K, TAGAMI, K, YOSHIDA, S and ROBISON, W. 2001. Measurement of ²⁴⁰Pu/²³⁹Pu isotopic ratios in soils from the Marshall Islands using ICP-MS. The Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 287, 151-159

NARAYANA, Y. 1995. Distribution and enrichment of radionuclides in the newly discovered high background area in Ullal on the Southwest coast of India. Health Physics, Vol. 69, 178-186.

NARAYANA, Y, RADHAKRISHNA, A P, SOMASHEKARAPPA, H M, KARUNAKARA, N, BALAKRISHNA, K M, and SIDDAPPA, K. 1995. Distribution of Some Natural and Artificial Radionuclides in the Environment of Coastal Karnataka of South-India. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 28, 113-139.

NEARY, M P. 1997. Tritium enrichment: To enrich or not to enrich? Radioactivity and radiochemistry, Vol. 8, 23-25.

NISBET, A, F, SALBU, B, and SHAW, S. 1993. Association of radionuclides with different molecular-size fractions in soil solution - implications for plant uptake. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 18, 71-84.

NRPB. 1998. Living with radiation. Fifth edition, published by the NRPB (order no: ISBN0-85951-419-6). 69 pages.

NRPB. 2000. Generalised derived constraints for radioisotopes of strontium, ruthenium, iodine, caesium, plutonium, americium, curium. Generalised derived limits for radioisotopes of polonium, lead, radium, and uranium. Documents of the NRPB. Volume 11, No: 2. 71 pages.

NUCLEAR FREE LOCAL AUTHORITIES, 2001. Radioactive scrap metals. A nuclear free local authorities briefing- The local government voice on nuclear issues.

Supported by iron and steel trades confederation and steel action. p8-17. (Local agenda 12 UK.)

PACKARD. 1990. Tri-carb liquid scintillation analysers model 1900TR operation manual. Packard instrument company, 169-4066 rev A.

PEUROU, F. 2000. A preliminary study on the environmental radioactivity in the city of Glasgow. A Thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Master of Science, July 2000. 63 pages.

RAFFERTY, B, BRENNAN, M, DAWSON, D, and DOWDING, D. 2000. Mechanisms of Cs-137 migration in coniferous forest soils. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 48, 131-143.

RAURET, G, LOPEZ-SANCHEZ, J-F, SAHUQILLO, A, and BAARAHONA, E. 2000. Application of a modified BCR sequential extraction (three-step) procedure for the determination of the extractable trace metal contents in a sewage sludge amended soil reference material (CRM 483), complemented by a three-year stability study of acetic acid and EDTA extractable metal content. Journal of environmental monitoring, Vol. 2, 228-233.

REITH, F, DRAKE, H,L and KUSEL, K. 2002. Anaerobic activities of bacteria and fungi in moderately acidic conifer and deciduous leaf litter. Fems microbiology Ecology Vol. 41 (1), 27-35.

RILEY, J,P and SKIRROW, G. 1975. Chemical oceanography. Volume 3, second edition. Academic Press. 564 pages.

ROCA-JOVE, M C, and VALLEJO-CALZADA, V R. 2000. Predicting radiocaesium root uptake based on potassium uptake parameters. A mechanistic approach. Plant and Soil, Vol. 222, 35-49.

ROCHEDO, E R R, CONTI, L F C, and PARETZKE, H G. 1997. PARATI- A dynamic model for radiological assessments in urban areas Part 2: specifications of individuals and populations, their radiation exposures and variabilities. Radiation and Environmental Biophysics, Vol. 36, 183-193.

SALBU, B, OSTBY, G, GARMO, T H, and HOVE, K. 1991. Availability of Cs isotopes in vegetation estimated from incubation and extraction experiments. Analyst, Vol. 117, 487-491.

SAYLES, F L, LIVINGSTON, H D, and PANTELEYEV, G P. 1997. The history and source of particulate Cs-137 and Pu-239, Pu-240 deposition in sediments of the Ob river delta, Siberia. Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 202, 25-41.

SCHAEFER, H, J. 1971. Radiation exposure in air travel. Science, Vol. 173, 780-783.

SCHULTZ, R K. 1965. Soil Chemistry of radionuclides. Health Physics, Vol. 11, 1317-1324.

SELNAES, T D, and STRAND, P. 1992. Comparison of the uptake of radiocaesium from soil to grass after nuclear weapons tests and the Chernobyl accident. Analyst, Vol. 117, 493-496.

SEPA. Scottish Environmental Protection Agency- ONLINE. www.sepa.org.uk

SHAND, C A, CHESHIRE, M V, SMITH, S, VIDAL, M, and RAURET, G. 1994. Distribution of radiocaesium in organic soils. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 23, 285-302.

SHOTYK, W, NORTON, S,A and FARMER, J,G. 1997. Summary of the workshop on peat bog archives of atmospheric metal deposition. Water, Air, Soil Pollution, Vol. 100, (3-4), 213-219.

SKIPPERUD, L, OUGHTON, D and SALBU, B. 2000. The impact of Pu speciation on distribution coefficients in Mayak soil. The Science of the Total Environment Vol. 257, 81-93.

SPALDING, B P, and SPALDING, I R. 2001. Chemical equilibrium model of strontium-90 adsorption in soil in response to dynamic alkaline conditions. Environmental Science and Technology, Vol. 35, 365-373.

SUTHERLAND, R,A and TACK, F,M,G. 2000. Metal phase associations in soils from an urban watershed, Honolulu, Hawaii. The Science of the Total Environment Vol. 256, 103-113.

SZERBIN, P, KOBLINGER-BOKORI, E, KOBLINGER, L, VEGVARI, I and UGRON, A. 1999. Caesium-137 migration in Hungarian soils. The Science of the Total Environment Vol. 227, 215-227.

TESTA, C, JIA, G, DESIDERI, D, GUERRA, F and MELI, M, A. 1999. Vertical profiles of ^{239,240}Pu and ²⁴¹Am in two sphagnum mosses of Italian peat. The Science of the Total Environment Vol. 232, 27-31.

THE ROYAL SOCIETY OF CHEMISTRY, 1999. Understanding our environment: An introduction to environmental chemistry and pollution. (The Royal Society of Chemistry). 362 pages.

TURNER, L J, and DELORME, L D. 1996. Assessment of Pb-210 data from Canadian lakes using the CIC and CRS models. Environmental Geology, Vol. 28, 78-87.

UNSCEAR. 1993. Sources and effects of ionizing radiation- UNSCEAR 1993 report to the general assembly. UNSCEAR. 1617 pages.

URBAN, N, R, EISENREICH, S,J, GRIGAL, D,F and SCHUR, K,T. 1990. Mobility and diagenesis of Pb and ²¹⁰Pb in peat. Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, Vol.54, 3329-3346.

USEPA. 2001 (a). Orphaned sources initiative. United States Environmental Protection Agency- Review report. Downloaded from: http://www.epa.gov/radiation/cleanmetals/orphan.htm

USEPA. 2001 (b). Soil screening guidance for radionuclides. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Technical background document EPA/540/R-95/128.

VANLOON and DUFFY. 2000. Environmental chemistry- a global perspective. (Oxford press.) 504 Pages.

VETTER, R J. 1993. Hospital Health Physics- Radiation protection in nuclear medicine. Proceedings of the 1993 health physics summer school. 147-162.

WANG, E X, and BENOIT, G. 1996. Mechanisms controlling the mobility of lead in the spodsols of a northern hardwood forest ecosystem. Environmental Science and Technology, Vol. 30, 2211-2219.

WARNER, F, and HARRISON, R M. 1993. Radioecology after Chernobyl: Biogeochemical, Pathways of Artificial Radionuclides. Published by SCOPE 50. 400 pages.

WEBSTER, R. 2001. Statistics to support soil research. European Journal of Soil Science, Vol. 52, 331-340.

WEBSTER, R, and OLIVER, M A. 2000. Geostatistics for environmental scientists. Statistics in practice. 271 pages (Wiley).

WINKLER, R. 2000. Seasonal and long-term variation of ²¹⁰Pb concentration in air, atmospheric deposition rate and total deposition velocity in South Germany. Science of the Total Environment, Vol. 236, 57-69.

WOLTERS, V, and SCHAEFER, M. 1993. Effects of Burrowing by the Earthworm Aporrectodea-Caliginosa (Savigny) on Beech Litter Decomposition in an Agricultural and in a Forest Soil. Geoderma, Vol. 56, 627-632.

WONG, K, M.1971. Radiochemical determination of plutonium in sea water sediments and marine organisms. Analytica Chimica Acta Vol. 56, 355-364.

WOS. 2001. Web of Science- online. www.wos.mimas.ac.uk

YERA, T S, VALLEJO, V R, VALCKE, E, COLLE, C, FORSTEL, H, MILLAN, R, and JOUGLET, H. 1999. Cs-137 and Sr-90 root uptake prediction under close-toreal controlled conditions. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, Vol. 45, 191-217. Appendix 1 – Extended results from gamma spectrometry analysis carried out at GCSS

Radionucli	9 Robroyston	8 (Summerston)	7 (Colston Lab)	6 Pollok Park (Average)	5 (Southern General)	4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3 (Strathclyde Uni/ Royal Inf)	2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	1 (Glasgow Uni Western Inf)	Sample site
the in chil (41± 12) 22.5± 6.52	14.9± 4.47	Ŋ	36± 10.44	30.1± 8.7	22.5± 6.38	19.3± 1.4	/ 22.5±	²²⁸ Ac
Rn kn ⁻¹	90±	56± 21.8	23± 9.66	ND	79± 22.12	75.5± 18.12	45± 19.8	49± 16.2	l	²²⁸ Th
Anril 2001	40.7± 6.7	22.9± 4.35	18.8± 4.51	ND	39± 6.63	31.55± 5.9	28.2± 5	16± 4.8	22.4± 4.7	²²⁴ Ra
-	40.3± 21	22.5± 1.19	14.4± 0.85	Ŋ	37.7± 1.88	30.15± 1.51	23.1± 1.2	19.6±	23± 1.2	²¹² Pb
	35.5± 53	20.2± 3.84	14.5± 4.06	Ŋ	39.7± 5.16	31.2± 4.21	20.4± 4.08	19.6± 4.7	25.6± 3.8	²¹² Bi
	1.32± 0.46	7.29± 0.45	5.34± 0.43	ND	12.7± 0.66	9.7± 0.56	7.46± 0.46	6.37± 0.49	7.8± 0.5	²⁰⁸ TL
	33.5±	35± 15.75	1	Ŋ	40± 10.4	11.56± 3.87	l	28.5± 7.12	27.9± 10	²³⁴ Th
	36.8± 2.1	21.1± 1.29	11± 0.91	ND	45.8± 1.14	29.7± 1.69	17.9± 1.12	19.7± 1.35	21.1± 1.28	²¹⁴ Pb
	37.8± 2.2	20.8± 1.31	12.7± 1.04	D	43± 2.4	27.85± 1.6	16.9± 1.14	19.3± 1.41	20± 1.24	²¹⁴ Bi
	49.4± 7.8	2	16.2± 4.53	ND	38± 17.1	ł	ł	43.2± 7.77	٢	²¹⁰ Pb

Kadionuciides in sou (Bq Kg⁻), April 2001

Radionuclides in soil (Bq kg⁻¹), November 2000

			· · · · ·						
9 Robroyston	8 (Summerston)	7 (Colston Lab)	6 Pollok Park (Average)	5 (Southern General)	4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3 (Strathclyde Uni/ Royal Inf)	2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western Inf)	Sample site
24.2±	20.9±	19.1±	29.9 ±	27.3±	27.9±	22.7±	20.4±	29.3±	²²⁸ Ac
7.1	6.27	5.7	8.8	8.2	8.3	6.8	6.0	8.8	
55±	65±	52.3±	66 ±	79±	78±	71±	67±	88±	228 Th
16	11.05	16.4	10.9	21.3	22	19.9	15.4	22.9	
23.5±	23.2±	18.36±	33.5 ±	30.8±	29.6±	17.8±	23.2±	31.1±	²²⁴ Ra
4.5	4.64	4.2	6.1	6.2	6.5	4.9	4.12	6.3	
25.3±	22.3±	18.86±	30.6 ±	28.4±	28.5±	22.8±	20.3±	30.3±	²¹² Pb
1.8	1.56	1.3	4.3	1.9	2.0	1.6	1.4	2.1	
26.6±	22.3±	17.1±	31.45 ±	31.7±	26±	24.2±	19.9±	30.5±	²¹² Bi
3.5	3.34	2.6	8.9	5.7	5.6	3.6	3.2	5.2	
0.62 <u>+</u>	7.22±	6.33±	5.2 ±	9.44±	0.98±	7.83±	6.67±	10.2±	²⁰⁸ TL
0.18	0.54	0.5	0.45	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.8	
19.8±	30.2±	28.03±	36.5 ±	44.2±	47.7±	28±	31.3±	42.8±	²³⁴ Th
7.7	8.75	8.9	9.6	8.9	9.5	13.2	8.9	8.6	
24.2±	22.3±	17.9±	27.5 ±	33.7±	30.1±	22.6±	24.6±	30±	²¹⁴ Pb
1.8	1.65	1.4	2.1	2.5	2.3	1.6	1.8	2.2	
22.7±	20.6±	17.26±	27.3 ±	33.8±	30.9±	21.9 <u>+</u>	23.2±	29.2±	²¹⁴ Bi
1.7	1.52	1.3	2.1	2.6	2.5	1.6	1.7	2.2	
2	2	27.1± 2.7	16.0 ± 3.2	43.3± 7.4	50± 8.5	2	24± 15.8	43.7± 7.4	²¹⁰ Pb

Radionuclides	9 Robroyston	8 (Summerston)	7 (Colston Lab)	6 Pollok Park	5 (Southern General)	4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3 (Strathclyde Uni/ Royal Inf)	2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western Inf)	Sample site
in orace	ł	2	2	UN	2	2	ł	2	1	²²⁸ Ac
Rn ka ⁻¹)	2	2	2	ND	2	2	ł	l	2.6± 1.3	²²⁸ Th
Anril 200	2	2	ł	ND	2	ł	2	ł	ł	²²⁴ Ra
-	2	3.6± 1.8	ì	ND	1.83± 0.9	1.78± 0.6	2	ł	6.9± 1.9	²¹² Pb
	2	2	2	ND	ł	ł	2	2	ł	²¹² Bi
	٢	ł	ł	ND	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	²⁰⁸ TL
	2	2	l	ND	ł	39± 6.57	ł	ł	ł	²³⁴ Th
	2	2	ł	ND	2	1.47± 0.10	ł	ł	ł	²¹⁴ Pb
	١	2	2	ND	2	1.43± 0.10	2	2	2	²¹⁴ Bi
	2	2	2	ND	1	23.73± 1.49	ł	2	2	²¹⁰ РЬ

Radionuclides in grass (Bq kg⁻¹), April 2001

Dadianuclidae in ar		9 Rohmoveton		Q (Cummercton)		7 (Coloton I oh) ~	6 Pollok Park ~ (Average)	5 (Southern 23.2± General) 8.81	4 (Victoria 30± Infirmary) 111.7	ی ریسمینی کرد Uni/ Royal Inf) ~	2 (Gartnavel 2./± Hospital) 1.56	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western Inf) 9.66	Sample site Ac
ace (Rn br-1)	64.26	153±	36.72	72±	63.17	130.25±	2	2	2	2	29± 13.63	2	° *** Th
Novembe		ł		2		2	1	2	2	2	1	ł	²²⁴ Ra
1000	2.1	6±	0.99	1.99±	0.33	0.78±	ł	14.3± 2.14	9.8± 2.35	2	0.42	13.3± 1.99	²¹² Pb
		2		2		2	}	ł	l	ł	1	1	²¹² Bi
		2	0.63	1.19±	0.15	0.24±	ł	5± 1.4	4.9± 1.71	3.9± 2.14	2	5.8± 1.33	ZUN TL
	32.4	135±	20.46	33±	30.66	109.5±	58± 23.78	2	2	ł	24.2± 6.29	2	²³⁴ Th
:	2.7	7.1±	1.18	4.1±	2.19	3.92±	ł	15.9± 2.86	15.4± 3.69	2	1.8± 0.61	14.6± 2.62	²¹⁴ Pb
	3.62	11.7±	1.57	6.3±	2.94	7.76±	ł	18.2± 3.09	19.6± 4.50	l	2.24± 0.71	20.2± 3.23	²¹⁴ Bi
	28.25	113±		ł	35.96	93.95±	2	ł	2	ł	19.1± 5.92	2	²¹⁰ Pb

	9 Robroyston	8 (Summerston)	7 (Colston Lab)	6 Pollok Park (Average)	5 (Southern General)	4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3 (Strathclyde Uni/ Royal Inf)	2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western Inf)	Sample site
•	28± 9.24	11.6± 5.56	12.5± 5.87	ND	18.6± 7.62	23.6± 9.91	11.8± 5.31	15.6± 7.48	12.5± 6.4	Ac
)	1	2	1	ND	ì	2	Į	2	l	Th
- 	2	2	2	Ŋ	ł	1	l	ł	l	Ka
	15.6± 1.7	13.4± 1.742	13.4± 2.01	ND	18± 2.34	20.16± 0.60	12.8± 1.66	11± 2.31	15.2± 2.2	Pp
	30± 14.1	2	25± 3.25	ND	ì	2	ì	2	l	Bi
	6.6± 1.12	4± 1.12	5.2± 1.3	ND	5.7± 1.31	8.33± 1.92	3.8± 1.06	5± 1.65	4.9± 1.37	žue TL
	2	2	32± 11.84	ND	2	2	l	126± 28.98	2	^{23#} Th
	2	10± 2.2	7.7± 2.77	ND	11.7± 3.04	7.53± 1.356	7.6± 2.28	15.5± 3.1	9.2± 2.94	PPPP
	16.5± 2.47	2	7.8± 2.96	ND	11.4± 3.19	1	ł	14.6± 3.50	2	²¹⁴ Bi
	2	ł	170± 35	ND	2	18± 3.78	ł	78± 21.06	٢	210 Pb

Radionuclides in street dust (Bq kg⁻¹), April 2001

Radionuclides in street dust (Bq kg⁻¹), November 2000

_										
9 Kobroyston		8 (Summerston)	7 (Colston Lab)	6 Pollok Park (Average)	5 (Southern General)	4 (Victoria Infirmary)	3 (Strathclyde Uni/ Royal Inf)	2 (Gartnavel Hospital)	1 (Glasgow Uni/ Western Inf)	Sample site
	2	20± 7.3	17.97± 1.536	18.8 ±	24± 2.208	18± 7.4	19.6± 8.624	18± 1.54	22.8± 1.86	Ac
	2	129± 48	46./5± 17	63 ± 26	157± 53.38	97± 52	134± 46.9	151± 69.46	1	Th
	l	٢	1	1	ł	l	l	2	2	*** Ra
3.328	20.8±	18.9± 2.1	19.1± 2.725	18 ± 2.3	20.3± 2.6	21.1± 2.6	16.9± 2.36	14.9± 2.23	16.9± 2.36	Pb
	2	ł	16.5± 1.65	13.5 ± 9.0	2	25± 17	33± 20.46	1	2	"" Bi
2.436	8.4±	5.5± 1.1	6.2 <u>±</u> 0.113	4.1 ± 2.6	2.8± 1.79	5± 1.2	6.8± 1.836	5.4± 1.56	6.9 <u>+</u> 1.31	²⁰⁰ TL
	l	58± 2.7	22.5± 13.5	24 ± 14	127± 27.94	45± 30	116± 26.68	9.4± 2.35	ì	²³⁴ Th
4.332	11.4±	20.2± 2.6	15.45± 3.8	13.3 ± 3.19	20.6± 3.29	22.9± 3.2	17.1± 3.24	16.8± 3.36	14.5± 2.61	²¹⁴ Pb
	2	19.3± 2.9	7.425± 1.9	15.1± 3.9	22.9± 3.89	21.6± 3.4	16.4± 3.44	20± 3.8	16.5± 2.97	²¹⁴ Bi
	2	٢	160.75± 45.75	1	83± 19.09	110± 64	67± 17.42	75± 21	2	²¹⁰ Pb

Appendix 2 - Quench correction curve for ³H analysis at GCSS
